### Agreement

between the

# Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee

and the

Acton Boxborough Education Association

2020 - 2023

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Preamble</u>		3
Article 1	Recognition and Representation	4
Article 2	Committee's Rights	4
Article 3	Effect of Agreement	5
Article 4	Salaries	5
Article 5	Leaves of Absence	9
Article 6	Teaching Hours and Teaching Load	17
Article 7	Class Size	22
Article 8	Non-teaching Duties	23
Article 9	Teacher Employment and Assignment	24
Article 10	Transfers	25
Article 11	Vacancies and Promotions	26
Article 12	Positions in Summer School, Evening School,	
	and Under Federal Programs	26
Article 13	Teacher Evaluation	26
Article 14	Teacher Facilities	28
Article 15	Use of School Facilities	29
Article 16	Substitute Teachers	29
Article 17	Professional Learning	
	Educational Improvement,	
	and Course Reimbursement	30
Article 18	Research And Development Program	31
Article 19	Protection	33
Article 20	Insurance and Annuity Plan	33
Article 21	Textbooks	34

Article 22	Dues Deduction	34
Article 23	Personal Injury and Property Loss	36
Article 24	General	37
Article 25	Staff Children Tuition	37
Article 26	No Discrimination	38
Article 27	Precedence of Laws and Regulations	38
Article 28	Duration	39
Article 29	Kindergarten Teaching Positions	39
Article 30	Reduction in Staff	39
Article 31	Paraprofessionals	41
Article 32	Administrative Selection Committee	41
Article 33	Teachers Notifications	42
Article 34	Grievance Procedure	42
Article 35	Arbitration	44
Article 36	Continuity Of Operations	45
Schedule A Schedule B Schedule C Schedule D Schedule E	Salaries Salaries	46 48 54 55 56
Appendix B Appendix C Appendix D Letter Of Ac Letter Of Ac Paid Chape	Letter of Appointment Salary Payment Sheet Contract for Extra Duties Educator Evaluation Contract Language Working Groups Greement Regarding Senior High Duties Greement Regarding Junior High Duties Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines Greement Incentive Greement Regarding Senior High Duties Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines Groning Guidelines	57 58 59 60 76 77 78 79 80 82 83

#### **PREAMBLE**

This AGREEMENT is made this 13th Day of February 2020, by and between the ACTON-BOXBOROUGH REGIONAL SCHOOL COMMITTEE and the ACTON BOXBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION.

In consummating this agreement, it has been the purpose of the parties to continue their harmonious relationships, to promote mutual cooperation and understanding, to formulate rules, to define and resolve the proper interest of the teachers in their rights of compensation, hours and conditions under which they perform their duties, all with a goal of providing education of the highest possible quality for the children attending the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.

#### The parties acknowledge that:

- a) The Committee, elected by the citizens of the Towns of Acton and Boxborough, has complete authority over, and responsibility for, policies and administration of the schools which they exercise under law.
- b) The Superintendent of Schools of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District (hereinafter referred to as the "Superintendent") is responsible to the Committee for carrying out the policies established by the Committee and for the administration of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.
- c) The teaching staff of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, the Superintendent, and the Committee are responsible for providing education of the highest possible quality.

### ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION

1.1 The Association is recognized by the Committee (pursuant to Chapter 150 (E), Massachusetts General Laws) as the exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for all professional employees employed by the district including classroom teachers, special educators, specialized teaching personnel, school counselors, psychologists, occupational, physical, and speech and language therapists, librarians, nurses, Board Certified Behavior Analysts, High School Department Leaders, Junior High Coordinators, Student Services Chairperson, Nurse Leaders, and P.E./Health Chairperson, but excluding Superintendent, Assistant Superintendents, Principals, Assistant Principals, Associate Principals, Deans, Director of Special Education, Special Education Team Leaders, Administrative Assistants and other administrative personnel, per diem substitute teachers, and all other employees. The terms "teacher" and "teachers" as used hereafter in this Agreement refer only to such persons as at the time in question fall within the bargaining unit as defined in this Article.

#### 1.2 Definitions

"Days" shall mean only days on which teachers are required to report, and, in addition, days other than weekends or legal holidays during the summer vacation period.

"District" means the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.

"Committee" means the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee.

"Association" means the Acton Boxborough Education Association.

"Superintendent" means the Superintendent of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District.

# ARTICLE 2 COMMITTEE'S RIGHTS

2.1 Except to the extent that there is contained in this Agreement an express and specific provision to the contrary, all the authority, power, rights, jurisdiction, responsibilities and duties of the Committee under the laws of the Commonwealth or the lawful by-laws of the District or of any of the Member Towns of the Agreement for a Regional School District for the Towns of Acton and Boxborough, in effect as of July 1, 2020, as from time to time amended, are retained by and reserved exclusively to such Committee.

### ARTICLE 3 EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1 This instrument constitutes the entire Agreement that the Committee and the Association arrived at as the result of collective bargaining negotiations, except such amendments as shall be agreed to in writing and signed by the parties.
- 3.2 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each has had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Committee and the Association for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered by this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been in the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the parties at the time this Agreement was signed.
- 3.3 The waiver of any breach or condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent with respect to future enforcement of all the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 3.4 No provision of this Agreement shall be retroactive prior to the effective date.
- 3.5 Should any provisions of this Agreement be or become invalid because of any existing or future provisions of law, court decision or administrative ruling, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement.

### ARTICLE 4 SALARIES

- 4.1 A full-time teacher's base annual salary during the term of the Agreement shall be determined as set forth in Schedule A of this Agreement. Part-time teachers will be paid at the relevant proportion of the full-time rate including supermaximum, experience increments payments, and administrative stipends.
- 4.2 Department Leaders, Department Coordinators, Chairpersons, Nurse Leader
  - a) High School Department Leader
     The High School Department Leader (DL) leads hiring processes and makes
     recommendations to the Principal, oversees ABRHS staff, responds to questions from

parents, and develops curriculum consistent with K-12 goals and objectives. The HS DL will collaborate with the Junior High Department Coordinator about 7-12 curriculum. The HS DL and the Junior High Coordinator will meet at least once in the summer, and at least three times throughout the year. The High School Department Leader will participate in the High School Leadership Team and will attend District and High School Leadership days in the summer. The High School DL teaches a reduced schedule of two sections (.4 FTE) to allow time for department leader responsibilities, and will receive a stipend above the schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in schedule C.

#### b) <u>Junior High Department Coordinator</u>

A Junior High Department Coordinator assists in hiring, develops curriculum consistent with K-12 goals and objectives, and represents the department in the Junior High Leadership Team. The JH Coordinator will collaborate with the HS Department Leader about 7-12 curriculum. The Junior High Coordinator and the HS DL will meet at least once in the summer, and at least three times throughout the year. The Junior High Coordinator will receive a stipend above the schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in schedule C.

#### c) Student Services Chairperson

A Counseling Chairperson, Nurse Leader, Speech and Language Chairperson, or English Language Education Chairperson will have roles and responsibilities defined through their supervisor. The chairperson will be paid a stipend above the schedule A salary. Stipends are listed in schedule C.

4.3 A teacher designated and serving in an extracurricular position listed in Schedule B of this Agreement shall receive in addition to their base salary the amount set forth in Schedule B.

#### 4.4 <u>Supermax and Experience Increments</u>

- a) A teacher, after such teacher has received the maximum base annual salary for their level of formal educational attainment, shall have their base annual salary increased in accordance with the supermaximum schedule as provided in Schedule A. The amount under Supermax is added as part of the regular salary in the year following step12. -Supermax amounts during the life of this contract are additions to whatever Supermax amounts had been received in the prior years.
- b) In recognition of service as a teacher in the Acton, Boxborough, or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts, including authorized paid leaves of absence, teachers shall receive yearly Experience Increments, which shall be payable in equal installments on the School District's regular pay days during the applicable year of service, as follows:

Year of Service\* % of Bachelor Step 10 10 – 14 2% 15 – 24 3% 25 or more 4%

\*By way of example, a teacher who has completed nine (9) years of service with the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional Schools would, on each regular pay day of the subsequent school year, receive equal installment payments totaling for the entire school year 2% of the Bachelor Step 10 rate. A teacher who has completed fourteen (14) years of service with the Acton, Boxborough, and/or Acton-Boxborough Regional School Districts would, on each regular pay day of the subsequent school year, receive equal installment payments totaling for the entire school year 3% of the Bachelor Step 10 rate.

- 4.5 Base annual salaries as provided in this Agreement shall be paid in twenty-six (26) or twenty-one (21) installments during the period September 1 through the last regular pay day in June of such year for teachers.
- 4.6 There shall be deducted from a teacher's pay for each day on which they are absent other than on leave with pay, an amount equal to one one-hundred and eighty-third (1/183) of their base annual salary and additions thereto as provided in this Agreement.
- 4.7 References to "major subject" in Schedule A for
  - a) Secondary Teachers shall be content courses in subjects within the department(s) to which they are assigned at the time the course or courses are taken;
  - b) Elementary shall be content courses in the subjects which they are currently teaching.

The Superintendent may designate certain courses as major subject courses that would not otherwise be so defined pursuant to the above definition if they/them determines that said courses:

- a) Will be taken to prepare for a new course/curriculum that the teacher will be teaching in the future;
- b) Will provide direct benefit to the teacher in carrying out their assignment.

The Superintendent may also designate certain in-service courses to be 'major courses' for teachers who enroll in said in-service courses.

4.8 Acceptance of degrees and course credits required in section 4.7 and Schedule A, including credits for in-service courses, shall be subject to the approval of the Superintendent or designee. All degrees and credits shall be for courses taken directly from an accredited College or University or from an in-service program, including Acton-Boxborough and EDCO courses approved by the Superintendent or designee. Credits from third party vendors that are not part of a degree program or approved by the District may be used for PDP's, but will not be

accepted as credits on Schedule A. Teachers may not exceed 18 credits in any fiscal year. Credits taken in excess of 18 credits in one fiscal year may not be carried over into the next year.

4.9 Effective July 1, 2014, the bachelor's degree lanes will end at step 12. Employees hired on or after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for Supermax if they remain on the Bachelor's Degree lanes up to step 12 until an employee has earned a Master's Degree.

After five years on the Bachelor's Degree lane, to be eligible to move further on the Bachelor's Degree lanes, an employee not meeting the Master's Degree requirement must maintain a valid teaching license.

Nurses are excluded from this requirement until such time as the Commonwealth of Massachusetts requires nurses to obtain a Master's Degree as a prerequisite for licensed school nurses.

- 4.10 A teacher who attains sufficient credit hours or an advanced degree during the school year to make him or her eligible to advance to the next step in the salary scale or to the next higher degree scale, as the case may be, may so advance as of either September 1 or March 1 following such attainment, whichever is the earlier date. A teacher who has received an advanced degree prior to September 1 will be eligible to advance as of September 1 if the documentation evidencing completion of the advanced degree is received by the Superintendent not later than the following October 1.
- 4.11 Salary increases are granted annually at the discretion of and by vote of the Committee to teachers who continue to exhibit a high standard of teaching and who receive recommendation therefore from their department chairpersons (where applicable), principal and Superintendent. It is mutually agreed that neither increments nor adjustments are to be automatic and may be withheld for just cause and just cause shall mean unsatisfactory performance.

#### 4.12 <u>Anniversary Dates</u>

4.12.1 A teacher commencing their employment after the beginning of the school year who has been employed for a minimum of ninety-one (91) school days in that school year shall be eligible for advancement to the next step in the salary scale as of September 1 of the following school year. A teacher who has been employed for less than ninety-one (91) school days shall not be eligible for advancement to the next step in the following school year. For the purposes of this section, school days shall include no more than 6 days of sick leave, paid bereavement leave, paid personal leave and paid religious leave, canceled school days which the teacher otherwise would have worked and school days of teaching during such school year outside of the Committee's jurisdiction for which credit is granted in accordance with Section 12.1.

4.12.2 A certified substitute teacher who receives a regular teacher's contract after the beginning of the school year in accordance with Section 20.1 of this Agreement and is re-employed as a regular teacher in the following school year, shall be eligible for advancement to the next step in the salary scale as of September 1 of such following school year, provided such teacher has been employed for ninety-one (91) school days in the preceding school year for any purposes as a regular teacher.

#### 4.13 <u>Tutoring</u>

A teacher who is hired by the district to serve as a tutor outside of their normal work day, and who serves in such capacity, shall receive \$50 per hour for such services. If a teacher applies for and is selected to cover an after school writing or math center one day a week for the full school year, they will be paid a stipend of \$1,800.

# ARTICLE 5 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

5.1 In determining placement on the salary schedule for a teacher who returns from leave, the standard set out in Section 4.12.1 shall apply.

#### 5.1.1 Sick Leave

Each teacher shall be entitled to twelve (12) days of sick leave without loss of pay per school year. Unused sick leave shall be accumulated from year to year. In the event that the employment of a teacher who has exhausted their accumulated sick leave is terminated during a school year and they/them has used annual sick leave granted at the commencement of such school year in an amount which exceeds that proportionate part of twelve (12) days which the number of months of employment completed by said teacher during such school year bears to ten (10), then the teacher must pay back such excess to the Committee and the amount thereof may be deducted from any moneys due such teacher.

5.1.2 Sick leave shall be granted and taken only when a teacher is prevented from working because of actual personal illness including pregnancy or pregnancy related illness or injury or because of serious illness of or injury to a member of the teacher's "immediate family" or other relatives of the teacher living in such teacher's immediate household requiring the personal attention of such teacher. "Immediate family" shall be as defined in Section 8.2 below. Where individual circumstances require, the Superintendent may, at their discretion, expand the definition of immediate family; however, their determination shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. To be eligible for sick leave, a teacher must report the illness or injury to the appropriate Principal or Director or their designated representative at least one (1) hour prior to such teacher's

scheduled reporting time on the first day of absence, except that a teacher requesting sick pay for the birth of a child shall provide notice at least forty (40) days prior to the predicted birth date unless waived by the Principal or Director, and if the absence continues in excess of three (3) days or other unusual circumstances exist, shall furnish upon request evidence satisfactory to the Superintendent or his/her designee that they/them was prevented from working by the illness or injury. When submitted, Sick Days will be identified as Employee Sick and Family Sick.

#### 5.1.3 Sick Leave Buy Back

Effective July 1, 2021, a teacher who has been employed by the Acton-Boxborough schools for a minimum of fifteen (15) years, and who gives written notice by December 15 of any year of an irrevocable intent to retire at the end of that school year, shall receive a lump sum of \$15 for each unused sick day. The lump sum will be received by the teacher by July 31 of the year of retirement. The teacher must retire from the retirement system the year in which they leave ABRSD in order to qualify for the lump sum.

#### 5.2 Extended Paid Sick Leave

- 5.2.1 Each teacher who has taught for the District for at least one (1) full school year shall have an extended paid sick leave account which may be utilized if the teacher is prevented from working because of personal illness or injury. In order to be eligible to use extended paid sick leave during a period of absence due to personal illness or injury, a teacher must meet the following conditions:
  - a) All of the teacher's accumulated sick leave must have been exhausted; and
  - b) The teacher must furnish to the Superintendent a physician's certificate attesting that the illness or injury disables the teacher from working and is expected to continue for at least twenty (20) work days. Thereafter, the teacher may be required to furnish further medical certification. The Superintendent reserves the right to have a physician of their choosing examine the teacher.
- 5.2.2 The maximum number of days extended paid sick leave in a teacher's account shall be based upon the number of full school years such teacher has served for the District, as follows:

Number of full school years	Maximum number of days of
of service for the District	extended paid sick leave
At least 1 year but fewer than 5 years	45 days
At least 5 years but fewer than 10 years	90 days
At least 10 years but fewer than 15 years	120 days
At least 15 years but fewer than 20 years	150 days
20 years or more	180 days

- 5.2.3 A teacher who has used days of extended paid sick leave and who, because of the completion of additional full school years of service for the Committee, qualifies for an increase in the maximum number of days of extended paid sick leave, shall have deducted from the new maximum the number of days of extended paid sick leave previously used and charged to their account.
- 5.2.4 Each time a teacher uses days of extended paid sick leave, such days shall be deducted from the applicable maximum, provided that a teacher who has used days of extended paid sick leave shall have the applicable maximum number of days of extended paid sick leave restored to their account after such teacher completes a period of five (5) full school years of employment during which such teacher did not use any days of extended paid sick leave.
- 5.2.5 At the beginning of each school year, a maximum number of days equal to the aggregate number of FTE covered by this agreement multiplied by 4.0 shall be available for use as extended paid sick leave by Unit A members.
- 5.2.6 A teacher whose personal illness or injury extends beyond the period of paid sick leave or other compensation will be granted a leave of absence without pay or increment for the remainder of that school year. Such leave may be extended by the Superintendent for one additional school year. Before returning to work, the teacher must furnish the Superintendent with a physician's statement attesting that the teacher's condition will permit the teacher to undertake such teacher's assignments.

#### 5.3 Bereavement Leave

A teacher shall be entitled to up to three (3) consecutive days of leave without loss of pay for time necessarily and actually lost by reason of a death in the immediate household or immediate family of such teacher, or the death of another close significant person to the teacher. Notification of the need for such leave shall be made to the appropriate Principal or Director or their designated representative. The members of the "immediate family" shall be the teacher's spouse and the parents, children, siblings, grandparents, or grandchildren of the teacher or his/her spouse. Where individual circumstances require, the Superintendent may, in their discretion, expand the definition of immediate family; however, their determination shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. Additional consecutive days may be granted upon request with approval of the Superintendent for the following reasons: travel, distance and time, legal matters, religious reasons, delayed funeral or for any other unforeseen circumstances. However, the determination of the Superintendent concerning such additional days shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

#### 5.4 Personal Leave

A teacher will be granted leave without loss of pay up to three (3) days per year for the time necessary and actually lost for important personal reasons if such activity cannot be carried out at any other time. Personal days may not be used for recreation or to extend a vacation or long weekend. If a teacher requests a personal day connected to a vacation, holiday, or long weekend, or more than one personal day in a row, the purpose of the personal day must be provided to the Principal. Requests for personal days must be submitted as far in advance as possible. Approval of personal days shall be within discretion of the appropriate Principal and the Superintendent or designee.

Personal days during the first five days of school and the last three days of school will only be granted for extenuating circumstances. Personal days on Mondays or Fridays in May and June may be limited based on the volume of teachers absent in each school. Teachers will specify the reason for personal day requests on these days at the time of the request. Unused personal days will be rolled into sick days available for future use.

#### 5.5 Religious Leave

A teacher will be granted leave without loss of pay up to two (2) days in any one school year for time necessarily and actually lost for observance of a recognized major religious holiday of the religious faith to which such teacher belongs, when such holiday falls on a day on which teachers are required to report. The following are examples of "recognized major religious holidays" which may fall on a day on which teachers are required to report: Rosh Hashanah, Yom Kippur, and Good Friday of the Greek Orthodox Church. Notification by a teacher of their intention to take such leave shall be made to the appropriate Principal or Director as far as possible in advance of such holiday, but in no event less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of such holiday. Whether other days are "recognized major religious holidays" shall be determined by the Superintendent upon request of the Association or a teacher.

#### 5.6 Exchange Leave

An unpaid leave of absence of up to two years shall be granted to a teacher who engages in an exchange teacher program approved by the Superintendent. Credit on the salary schedule for such work shall be subject to Article 5.

#### 5.7 Association Business

A teacher designated by the Association shall, upon request, be granted a leave of absence for up to two (2) years without pay for the purpose of engaging in full-time local, state, or national activities of the Association, provided that no more than one (1) such teacher shall be on leave at any one time. For the purpose of the Application of Schedule A upon such teacher's return from leave, each teacher shall be treated as having continued to be employed by the District.

#### 5.8 Military Leave

- 5.8.1 Military leave for up to four (4) years without pay as required by state or federal law shall be granted for Military Service. Reinstatement shall be subject to state and federal law and Article 5.
  - 5.8.2 Leaves of absence with pay of up to a maximum of ten (10) days per school year may be granted by the Superintendent (or their designee), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, to persons called into temporary active duty of any unit of the U.S. Reserves or the State National Guard, provided such obligations cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session. Teachers will be paid the differences between their regular pay and the pay which they receive from the State or Federal Government.

#### 5.9 Family and Medical Leave

#### 5.9.1 Parental Leave

Employees who have worked for the district for at least three months may take up to eight weeks of leave for the purpose of giving birth or for the placement through adoption of a child under the age of 18, or under the age of 23 if the child is physically or mentally disabled pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Massachusetts Parental Leave Act, under the terms and conditions of Chapter 149 Section 105D of the Massachusetts General Laws.

Accumulated sick days may be used subject to the following limits:

- A. The birth parent may use accumulated sick days up to eight calendar weeks from the day that the baby is born. If the employee does not have enough sick days, unpaid days may be used.
- B. The non-birth parent may take a total of up to ten days using a combination of sick and personal days. Two additional personal days will be granted for this purpose to be used as part of the ten days.
- C. An adoptive parent may use accumulated sick days for up to eight weeks from the day the child is placed in the home of the adoptive parent.
- D. An employee who runs out of accumulated sick days will move into unpaid status.
- E. If the employee qualifies for the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), a birth, adoptive, or non-birth parent may extend the leave outlined above as unpaid leave for up to twelve (12) school weeks (which would include the period of leave under the Parental Leave Act). If an employee takes leave under this Section in circumstances where FMLA leave could also be taken, the two leaves shall run concurrently, rather than one after the other. If the employee qualifies for health insurance, the health insurance shall be maintained at the employee rate during the twelve week leave.
- F. Employees in unpaid leaves of absence that continue beyond the approved FMLA leaves may continue group insurance coverage as provided by the Committee to members of the bargaining unit by paying the full premium cost.

#### 5.9.2 FMLA Leave

All eligible members of the bargaining unit shall, in addition to the provisions of this Article, be eligible for leaves of absence in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. FMLA currently includes leaves for:

- a) The birth of a child and in order to care for the newborn;
- b) The adoption or placement of a child for foster care with the employee;
- c) To care for a child, spouse, or parent with a serious health condition;
- d) Because of the employee's own serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position.

All full time bargaining unit members shall presumptively be considered to have met the 1250 hour eligibility threshold on an annual basis. In the case of a part-time employee, the district shall bear the burden to establish the employee did not meet the 1250 hour eligibility threshold. Family leave shall be extended to include the care of any member of the teacher's household.

For leave related to the birth or placement of a child, the employee must provide at least two weeks' written notice before his/her anticipated date of departure and include an intended date of return. Eligibility for this benefit shall be extended to any birth or adoptive parent or to the partner of a birth or adoptive parent.

Nothing in this section shall be interpreted to limit an employee's right to utilize sick leave benefits as provided elsewhere in this agreement or to require an employee to use sick leave, personal leave or vacation time during any leave period.

#### 5.9.3 Child Rearing Leave

In the case of the birth or adoption of a child, once the teacher has used the twelve weeks of FMLA leave, they may take the remainder of the year off unpaid as child rearing leave. The teacher may also take the next full school year off as a child rearing leave of absence without pay. Requests for child rearing leave must be provided to the Superintendent at least forty (40) days prior to the predicted birth or adoption, where feasible. Eligibility for child rearing leave shall be extended to any birth or adoptive parent or to the partner of a birth or adoptive parent.

In the event a teacher wishes to elect to commence a child rearing leave at a fixed date earlier than the anticipated birth or adoption, such a leave may only begin at the end of a marking period, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Superintendent. The intent of

the minimum notice provisions is to afford a reasonable notice period such that the Superintendent may make adequate provisions for the continuity of education in the classroom. Nothing herein shall affect a teacher's entitlement to sick pay during any period of actual disability.

In determining the placement on the salary schedule of a teacher who returns from a child rearing leave of absence, credit for a full year of teaching will be given on the schedule for the school year during which the leave began if the teacher completed at least ninety-one (91) days of teaching during said school year; otherwise, the teacher shall return to the step on the salary schedule which s/he held prior to the commencement of such leave. The teacher shall be restored as soon as practicable to the position s/he held when her leave began, or to a substantially equivalent position.

Nothing in this section shall be interpreted to limit an employee's right to utilize sick leave benefits as provided elsewhere in this agreement or to require an employee to use sick leave, personal leave or vacation time during any leave period.

A teacher who has completed a child rearing leave or a discretionary leave shall not be eligible to commence a child rearing leave until the teacher has completed at least one full school year of active employment as a teacher following the earlier leave. Should a birth or adoption occur during the year in which the teacher returns from a prior child rearing or discretionary leave, that teacher can use the 12 weeks of FMLA available to them, as well as an unpaid child rearing leave for the remainder of that current school year, if requested. That teacher would not be eligible to extend that child rearing leave into the subsequent school year.

5.9.4 A teacher who chooses an extended leave of absence for the purpose of child rearing in accordance with Section 5.7.3, shall return to active employment only on the first day of school in September of the following year or on the first day of school in September of the second year following the birth or adoption. If the teacher wishes to return at a time other than those specified in this Section, s/he may do so only if a vacancy occurs for which s/he is qualified to fill.

#### 5.9.5 Spousal/Partner Leave

A teacher whose spouse or partner has given birth shall be granted two additional days of paid personal leave which may be combined with up to eight (8) sick or personal days for a total of ten (10) days of spousal leave to be used within twelve (12) weeks of the birth. A request for spousal leave must be made in writing at least two (2) weeks before the anticipated date of birth.

#### 5.9.6 Adoption Leave

Adoptive parents shall be entitled to utilize up to ten (10) days of paid leave for adoption related travel, court appearances, appointments with social workers or adoption agencies or attendance at other meetings or processes required in connection with the adoption of a child. Adoptive parents shall provide two (2) weeks notice of the intent to utilize paid leave under this section where practicable. Said leave shall be extended to the partner of an adoptive parent.

#### 5.10 - 5.12 Other Leaves

- 5.10 Leave of absence without pay or increment may be granted by the Superintendent for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the teacher's immediate family.
- 5.11 Leave of absence without pay or increment to any teacher to campaign for, or serve in a public office for one term, may be granted by the Superintendent.
- 5.12 Other leaves of absence may be granted by the Superintendent. Normally requests therefore should have been received by February 1.

#### 5.13-5.18 Conditions Pertaining to Leaves

5.13 Upon termination of a leave, a teacher will be restored as soon as possible to the position which such teacher left, or a substantially equivalent position, with such benefits to which the teacher was entitled at the time such leave commenced, provided that said teacher would not have been laid off due to a reduction in enrollment or budgetary factors had the teacher not been on leave, subject, however, to the requirements of the particular benefit plan or program involved.

A teacher must inform the Superintendent on or before February 1 whether she/he wishes to extend that leave. A teacher who does not inform the Superintendent shall be considered to be returning, and no extension of leave will be approved. Failure to be available for assignment at the termination of leave shall constitute a resignation.

- 5.14 Each request for leave or extension or renewal of leave shall be applied for and granted in writing.
- 5.15 Granting of discretionary leave shall not be unreasonably withheld. In deciding whether or not to grant a request for a discretionary leave, the Superintendent will weigh the implications for the education of the students, the importance of the leave to the teacher, the adverse effect, if any, upon the school system and other relevant considerations.

- 5.16 Leaves of absence with pay each school year may be granted by the Superintendent (or his or her designee), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, for the following leaves:
  - a) At least one (1) day for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences of an educational nature.
  - b) Time necessary for Association members to attend Massachusetts Teachers Association and/or National Education Association conferences and conventions.
  - c) Time necessary for appearance in any legal proceeding connected with the teacher's employment or with the school system or in any other legal proceeding if the teacher is required by law to attend.
- 5.17 No teacher will be required to arrange for their own substitute.
- 5.18 Teachers, upon application to the Superintendent, may be granted a leave for one year without pay for the purpose of pursuing an alternative career.

#### 5.19 <u>Jury Duty</u>

Teachers who are required to perform jury duty shall receive leave with pay for the duration of such duty. Compensation shall be the difference between jury duty pay and the teacher's regular pay, including all or any part of the compensation for stipendiary positions held at the time of such jury duty.

# ARTICLE 6 TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD

6.1 The School Committee and the Association agree that the teachers of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District shall devote the time which in their professional judgment is necessary to assure quality education for the students of each school system. The Association further agrees that it will actively encourage the sage use of professional judgment and will enforce this section through its Professional Rights and Responsibilities Committee. Obligations for part-time teachers and teachers who work part time in more than one building will be appropriately pro-rated. Those who travel between buildings will normally not have travel time counted as preparation time.

#### 6.2 **Calendar:**

The work year of teachers shall be one hundred and eighty-three (183) days or three (3) days longer than the minimum school year required by the State Board of Education, whichever is greater. The school year for teachers shall begin not earlier than August 25<sup>th</sup>. In the event that school begins prior to Labor Day, schools will be closed on the Friday preceding Labor Day. School will not be in session for one week in February, which contains President's Day, nor one week in April, which contains Patriot's Day, except for emergencies due to building schedules. In the event that school begins prior to Labor Day, schools will be closed on the Friday preceding Labor Day. In years in which the calendar dictates that school will begin before Labor Day, and the two professional days are scheduled for the Monday and Tuesday before Labor Day, school may be held the Friday before Labor Day.

The school year shall include all days on which Students are in attendance in accordance with the rules and regulations of the State Board of Education and orientation day(s) and professional learning day(s). When a teacher has completed their responsibilities at the end of a school year and they/them have "checked out" with the appropriate Principal, such teacher needs not delay departure until other teachers have checked out.

At the discretion of the School Committee, one additional day or two evening conference nights may be added to the schedule. If added, teachers will be compensated at a rate equivalent to 1/183 of Masters Step 1. The decision will be made when the School Committee determines the next year's school calendar. If an additional day is scheduled, it will be of equal length to a normal school day. If two nights are scheduled, no night session will be longer than three and one half hours (3.5 hrs.) in length and will end no later than 9:00 pm.

#### 6.3 Length of Work Day:

The workday of classroom teachers will begin at the most thirty minutes before the starting time of the schools. Teachers may leave school at student dismissal time once students have been dismissed from their classrooms unless detained by such commitments as staff meetings, detention, bus duty, or extra help. The starting and dismissal times of each school are subject to modifications by the School Committee, provided, however, that no such modification will increase the length of the teacher's workday.

Teachers will have a preparation period during which they will not be assigned to any other duties as follows:

a) Elementary School: At least four preparation periods, not necessarily of

equal length, for a total of 175-195 minutes per week except for half-day kindergarten teachers, who will have a total of 90 minutes of preparation time per week.

- b) Junior High School: one classroom period per day.
- c) Senior High School: one classroom period per day.
- d) Preschool Teachers: The Association and the Committee recognize that preschool teachers currently have preparation time on Fridays when school is not in session for all students. In the event that the preschool hours of operation change to five days per week for all students, the Association and School Committee agree to enter into negotiations for a side letter of agreement to guarantee minimum weekly preparation time for preschool teachers.

If a teacher leaves the building during school hours, they will notify their Principal or designee. Teachers who have first or last period as a prep period will request permission from their supervisor each time they request to arrive at school after the first period begins or leave before the last period ends.

On early release days, late start days, and field trips, preparation periods may not be rescheduled. During MCAS and other specially scheduled activities, classroom teachers will be provided some preparation time if there are staff members available for coverage.

The elementary schools will have an early release dismissal of students one day per week. Six of these days will be used for fall and spring conferences and year end progress reports, at least ten of these days will be used for collaborative team time. At least seven of these days will be used for building based professional learning. Teachers will schedule a fall and spring conference for each students' parent/guardian. At least six early release days will be allocated for these conferences and end of year work. The remaining early release days will be used for district-wide grade level meetings or professional learning. Teachers will work on early release days until the normal end of the school day, unless otherwise agreed upon by the Committee and the ABEA in order to allow teachers adequate travel time

#### 6.4 English Teachers:

Academic subject area Junior and Senior High school teachers will not be assigned to more than five (5) single teaching periods per day unless agreed upon with the teacher. High School English teachers will not be assigned to more than four (4) single teaching periods plus one duty per day unless agreed upon with the teacher.

6.5 Normally, secondary school teachers will not be required to teach more than two (2)

subjects nor more than a total of three (3) teaching preparations within said subject at any one time.

6.6

- a) The teaching schedules of elementary school specialist teachers, such as music, art, and physical education teachers, will be arranged among specialists, teachers, and the appropriate Administrators so that, to the extent reasonably possible, the teaching load of all such teachers within a given field will be comparable and consistent with the highest quality of education. In determining comparability of teaching loads, consideration will be given to necessary preparation time for classroom work, work with individual students, special programs and other teaching responsibilities.
- b) The nursing schedules of elementary school nurses will be arranged between nurses and the appropriate Administrators so that, to an extent reasonably possible, the nursing load of all such nurses within a given field will be comparable. In determining comparability of nursing loads, consideration will be given to necessary preparation time for special programs and other responsibilities.
- 6.7 Upon completion of grade level meetings to recommend assignments for the following school year, each teacher will receive a list of the students; including proper notation of students with disabilities, recommended for that teacher's class. Two weeks prior to the start of school, each principal will inform the teacher of any known students added to or deleted from the teacher's proposed class.
- 6.8 The language in this Article shall be interpreted so as not to exclude Specialist teachers from the meaning of "teachers".
- 6.9 Personnel other than classroom teachers will work at their assigned tasks for the length of the regular teacher's workday, as per contract or at the discretion of the supervisor.
- 6.10 Teachers will have a duty-free lunch period of approximately thirty minutes.
- 6.11 There will be a minimum twenty-minute recess period each day in the elementary schools. Each elementary school teacher will be off duty for one such recess period on full school days.
- 6.12 Teachers' participation in extracurricular activities will be strictly voluntary and teachers will be compensated for all such participation in accordance with the provisions of Schedule B.
- 6.13 Professional Services: If the Association President or Co-President so requests and the Superintendent deems it desirable, the Superintendent may adjust the teaching schedule of

the President/Co-President to provide release time for the President/Co-President to handle matters requiring immediate consideration.

- 6.14 Junior High and High School teachers may be required to remain after the end of the regular work day without compensation to attend the following staff meetings:
  - a) 75 minutes one day of each month or ten days per school year--Building Level Staff Meetings.
  - b) One hour one day of each month or ten days per school year -- Curriculum Meetings or Departmental Meetings.
  - c) During the self- evaluation as required by the NEASC accreditation process.

Elementary teachers may be required to attend the following staff meetings before school or after school once all the buses leave, without additional compensation, for up to one hour.

- a) One day of each month or ten days per school year Building Level Staff Meetings
- b) One day of each month or ten days per school year Curriculum Meetings or Departmental Meetings.
- 6.15 The Association recognizes that a teacher's responsibilities include meeting the needs of students in relation to extra help. Every effort shall be made by the teacher to ensure that no student is denied a reasonable amount of individual attention outside of regular class periods when sought by a student or parent or when thought necessary by a teacher. However, it is recognized that this time must be scheduled in recognition of the numerous other commitments to the school system on the part of the teacher.

It is further recognized that a teacher's responsibilities include conferring with a parent when so requested by a parent or when thought necessary by the teacher. Such conferences should be held at mutually convenient times.

- 6.16 At the discretion of the Principal, class field trips shall be encouraged to the extent of the budget allocated to each school for such purposes.
- 6.17 There shall be spring and fall conferences held in each elementary school. Six of the early release days will be allocated for these conferences, although teachers may also schedule them at other times mutually agreed upon with the family.
- 6.18 All teachers shall be required to attend back to school night. Elementary teachers will be required to attend either Kindergarten night or one other alternate

school activity. Junior High teachers will attend one evening conference as well as two afternoon conference days scheduled on early release days. The Junior High conference night will end by 9:00 pm. Junior High teachers will be given release time for evening conferences in the form of an early release or late start before or after evening conferences.

- 6.19 During one of the professional days scheduled before the first day of school, elementary teachers will be given two hours to work in classrooms, and Junior High and High School teachers will be given two hours for a team or department meeting.
- 6.20 All currently-employed teachers will complete the Seeking Educational Equity and Diversity (SEED) course and the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) course by August 31, 2023. Newly hired teachers will complete the SEED course and the UDL course within the first three years of employment in the district.

The SEED and UDL courses will be funded by the District. SEED will be offered each year, within the district, as part of the Professional Learning Program. If these courses are not offered within the district, teachers will complete these courses within a reasonable distance of the district or the teacher's home.

The requirement to complete the SEED and UDL courses may be waived by the superintendent.

6.21 Newly hired teachers will attend orientation as scheduled before school starts. They will participate in the district's Beginning Teacher Support Program, and they may be required to attend up to five, hour-long meetings for new teachers with their principal or designee outside of the school day throughout the school year.

### ARTICLE 7 CLASS SIZE

7.1 The desirable maximum number of Students per teacher is as follows:

<u>Elementa</u>	ry Schools	
Kinderga	rten 20	
Grade 1	20	
Grade 2 t	hrough 6 25	

### Junior and Senior High Schools

Academic Subjects 25

Science Laboratories 25
Industrial Technology 15
Art 15
Mechanical Drawing 25
Physical Education 25
Study Hall 30

7.2 The Committee and the Association recognize that class size has a bearing on quality education and will, whenever possible, subject to space availability and other educational considerations, ensure that class size is of the most effective number for both the teacher and Students. Attainment of the desirable maximum number of Students per teacher shall, however, be dependent on the practicalities with which the Committee must deal.

### ARTICLE 8 NON-TEACHING DUTIES

- 8.1 The Committee and the Association acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and their energies should, to the extent possible, be utilized to this end.
- 8.2 Teachers will not be required to perform the following duties to an extent greater than now in general performed:
  - a) Non-professional assignments, including but not limited to, milk distribution, supervision of sidewalks, buses and playgrounds, except in cases of emergency determined by the Principal.
  - b) Health services, such as administering eye and ear examinations and weighing and measuring students, except for members of the Physical Education Department who presently perform such duties. This paragraph does not apply to nurses.
  - c) Collecting money from students for non-school related purposes. Although teachers may be required to collect and transmit money to be used for school related purposes, they will not be required to tabulate or account for such money.
  - d) Delivering books to classrooms, keeping registers and clerical work on cumulative record cards, correcting and graphing of standardized tests, and other similar clerical functions.
- 8.3 Elementary teachers and nurses shall not be required to supervise lunch or recess.
- 8.4 Teachers shall not be required to drive students to activities which take place away from school buildings. If a teacher provides transportation for a student from their school or from the location of an authorized outside activity to the student's home, that activity shall be considered to be within the scope of the teacher's duties for the purposes of Chapter 258.

- 8.5 When it is required that the contents of a room be moved
  - a) Teachers will be provided with sufficient packing materials;
  - b) Teachers will not be required to move materials to a new location.
- Any teacher or professional staff member who is involuntarily transferred or reassigned room assignment shall be entitled to compensation of \$200 for packing up and unpacking their classroom or work space. For purposes of this provision, "classroom teachers" shall include teachers and other professional staff who have an assigned room, such as art or music teacher. At the discretion of building principals, an alternative assignment day could be furnished as substitute compensation.
- 8.7 The language in this Article shall be interpreted so as not to exclude Specialist teachers from the meaning of "teachers".

#### **ARTICLE 9**

#### TEACHER EMPLOYMENT AND ASSIGNMENT

- 9.1 Upon employment or reemployment, a teacher will be placed on a mutually agreed step on the salary schedule.
- 9.2 Teachers within the school system will be notified in writing of their programs for the coming school year, including the school to which they will be assigned, the grades and/or subjects that they will teach, and any special or unusual classes that they will have, as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than June 1 at both the elementary and secondary levels.
- 9.3 In order to ensure that students are taught by teachers working within their areas of expertise, teachers will not be assigned, except temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching certification and/or their major or minor fields of study.
- 9.4 Principals may move a teacher to another grade or subject for which they are certified. The Principal will notify a teacher of a change in grade or subject by March 1 if possible, so that the teacher may consider applying for any other openings in the district. The Association understands that there may be circumstances in which the Principal may need to make a grade level or subject assignment decision later in the school year. The principal will have final say over grade level and subject assignments within their school.
- 9.5 In arranging schedules for teachers who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made to limit the amount of inter-school travel. Such teachers will be notified of any changes in their schedules as soon as practicable. Teachers who are assigned to more than one school in any one school day will receive the current IRS rate per mile for all inter-school driving done by them.

9.6 Teachers who are required to travel between schools for the performance of their teaching duties shall be promptly notified in writing whenever it becomes known.

### ARTICLE 10 TRANSFERS

- 10.1 Although the Committee and the Association recognize that some involuntary transfers of teachers from one school to another are unavoidable, they also recognize that frequent transfers of teachers disrupts the educational process and interferes with optimum teacher performance.
- 10.2 When a reduction in the number of teachers in a school is necessary, volunteers will generally be transferred first.
- 10.3 When involuntary transfers are necessary, the educational needs of the students, a teacher's area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, and length of service in the Acton, Boxborough, and the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District and other relevant factors will be considered in determining which teacher is to be transferred. Teachers being involuntarily transferred will be transferred to duties bearing an appropriate relationship to the teacher's experience or prior duties. An involuntary transfer to another school will only be made after a meeting with the teacher involved and the Principal, at which time the teacher will be told why they have been selected as a teacher to be transferred. At that meeting, a teacher being involuntarily transferred will have an opportunity to discuss openings in other schools and suggest a preference. The teacher may apply for any vacancies in the district for which they are qualified.
- 10.4 A list of open positions in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District will be made available to all teachers being transferred. All such teachers will be given reasonable time off for the purpose of visiting schools at which such openings exist.
- 10.5 Notice of transfer will be given to teachers as soon as practicable. Generally such notice is given not later than June l.
- 10.6 Exceptions to the provisions of Sections 10.2, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 above may be made only if the Superintendent determines that it is necessary to do so in the best interests of the teacher(s) and/or school affected. The Association will be notified of every instance in which the Superintendent so determines. A transfer made as the result of an exception pursuant to this Section 10.6 shall be subject to the grievance procedure set out in Article 34 and may be initiated at Level Two.

#### **ARTICLE 11**

#### VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS

- 11.1 Whenever any vacancy occurs at the professional level between September I and June 30, notice of such vacancy will be posted on the Association bulletin board in each school as far in advance of the appointment as is reasonably possible. During the months of July and August, written notice of any such vacancy will be given to the Association. Such notice shall clearly set forth the qualifications for the position, its duties and the rate of compensation. If such qualifications are changed after such notice is given, the Association will be advised of such changes and the reasons reasonably in advance of the filling of such vacancy.
- 11.2 Any qualified teacher, whether or not employed by the District, who wishes to apply for a vacancy anywhere in the district, is welcome to follow the application process established for that vacancy. Consideration shall be given to each applicant's professional background, attainments, experience, length of service for the District or other relevant factors. Any teacher applicant who is not selected for a vacancy will receive notice from the appointing principal or designee and may request a conference with that principal or designee to discuss the reasons for their non-appointment.
- 11.3 A list of open positions in the Acton-Boxborough Regional Schools, as the case may be, shall be made available to the Association.

# ARTICLE 12 POSITIONS IN SUMMER SCHOOL, EVENING SCHOOL, AND UNDER FEDERAL PROGRAMS

Reasonable advance notice of openings for positions in any summer school, evening school or under Federal programs will be given to the Association. Consideration in filling such openings will be given to an applicant's professional background, experience, length of service and other relevant considerations. A teacher applicant shall be notified of the action taken with respect to their application as soon as reasonably possible.

# ARTICLE 13 TEACHER EVALUATION

- 13.1 All monitoring or observation of the work performance of a teacher will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher.
- 13.2 Each teacher shall, upon request, be permitted to review the contents of their personnel files and to file a written answer to any material which the teacher deems to be derogatory or factually inaccurate. Such teacher shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association present during such review. No material which the Superintendent or the appropriate Principal

determines to be derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character or personality shall be placed in a teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material. The teacher shall acknowledge having had the opportunity to review such material by affixing his or her signature to the copy to be filed; however, such signature shall not indicate agreement with the content thereof.

- 13.3 Upon request, each teacher will be given a copy of any evaluation report prepared by their supervisors and shall be given an opportunity to discuss such report with the appropriate supervisor.
- 13.4 Any complaint emanating from outside the school or within the school which may result in a formal oral reprimand, a written reprimand, disciplinary action or which may be used as a basis to formulate an objective under the evaluation procedure shall be brought to the teacher's attention in writing, including the identification of the complainant, within five (5) days of the receipt of said complaint by the Administration. The School Committee and the Association agree that the professional staff will recognize its responsibility to demonstrate sage professional judgment in dealing with such complaints and the individuals involved.
- 13.5 The Association recognizes the authority and responsibility of the Principal to reprimand or otherwise discipline a teacher for delinquency of professional performance. If a teacher is to be reprimanded or otherwise disciplined by a member of the Administration above the level of the Principal, however, they will be entitled to have a representative of the Association present.
- 13.6 No teacher with professional teacher status shall be reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation or otherwise disciplined without good cause. If the discipline of a teacher rises to the level of suspension or termination, no teacher with professional teacher status will be suspended or terminated without just cause. Teachers without professional status may be dismissed without notice within 90 calendar days, and they may not be reappointed at the end of each school year without cause consistent with MGL Ch. 71.
- 13.7 The parties agree that Appendix C shall represent the procedure, philosophy, and instrument by which teachers shall be evaluated. Appendix C shall be periodically reviewed through a joint teacher-administrator committee. Changes may be made outside of formal negotiations, but only with the agreement and signature of the ABEA and the Superintendent.

#### 13.8 <u>Coaching Evaluation</u>

The term "teacher" as used in this Article shall include professional persons receiving pay under Schedule B.

13.9 Teachers who assume responsibility for any activity listed in Schedule B shall be observed regularly

during each school year by the Administrator(s) responsible for the direction of the activity. Formal evaluations will be completed for all teachers during their first year in any Schedule B position. Decisions regarding the need for subsequent formal evaluation will be made by the appropriate Administrator(s) on the basis of observations and/or previous evaluations. All evaluations will be carried out in accordance with procedures outlined in Appendix C.

### ARTICLE 14 TEACHER FACILITIES

- 14.1 The Committee shall maintain the following types of facilities at each school substantially to the extent as now provided:
  - a) Space in each classroom in which teachers may safely store instructional materials and supplies;
  - b) A teacher work area containing reasonably adequate equipment and supplies to aid in the preparation of instructional materials;
  - c) An appropriately furnished room which will include a telephone, if the Association so requests, to be reserved for the exclusive use of the professional staff as a faculty lounge. The cost of any such telephone will be assumed by the Association;
  - d) A communication system so that teachers can communicate with the main building office from their classroom:
  - e) A well-lighted and clean adult restroom
  - f) A separate private dining area for the exclusive use of the professional staff.
- 14.2 a) Reasonably adequate reserved parking space for teachers will be provided at each school.
  - b) Reserved parking space will be provided for the nurse at each school, reasonably close to the school entrance. Wherever possible, this parking space will allow entry and/or exit when busses are in the school driveways.
- 14.3 The District shall budget at least \$500 each year for the sole purpose of supplying each teacher with a secure and lockable teacher's desk and/or file cabinet until such time that each teacher shall be so provided.
- 14.4 The Committee shall maintain the following types of facilities for nurses at each school substantially to the extent as now provided

- a) Space to store materials.
- b) A serviceable nurse's desk and chair at each school.

# ARTICLE 15 USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

- 15.1 The Association will have the right to use school buildings without cost at reasonable times for meetings, with the approval of the Superintendent (or their designee).
- 15.2 The teachers will have the right to use athletic facilities and equipment without cost when not otherwise used and whenever buildings housing such facilities are heated and lighted for any other purpose. The schedule and other related matters will be arranged in advance with the Superintendent or their designee.
- 15.3 There will be one (1) bulletin board in each school building, which will be placed in the faculty lounge, for the purpose of displaying notices, circulars and other material approved by the Association. Copies of all such material will be promptly given to the appropriate Principal, but their advance approval will not be required. No material shall be posted which tends to question the good faith or misrepresents the position of any of the parties to this Agreement, incites ill feeling or animosity or which constitutes campaign propaganda for or against rival factions within the Association.

### ARTICLE 16 SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS

- 16.1 Positions which will be vacant for at least one (1) semester will, to the extent possible, be filled by personnel who have met the state certification requirements. For work beyond the 45th day, the teacher will be placed on the salary schedule, the position on said schedule to be set by the Superintendent and the teacher.
- 16.2 At the secondary level in those cases where regular substitutes are not available and a regular teacher voluntarily agrees to serve as a substitute or attend a Core Evaluation Team meeting during their non-teaching time, said teacher will be paid an additional 1/900 of their base pay for each such period after their second such period during the school year. The Committee will utilize qualified substitute teachers in the absence of regular elementary art, music and physical education teachers to the extent that such qualified substitute teachers are available. When qualified substitute teachers are not available on the elementary level and a teacher serves as a substitute or attends a Core Evaluation Team meeting during their non-teaching time, said teacher will be paid an additional 1/1200 of their base pay for each such period after the second such period

- during the school year. Such arrangements will be made by the appropriate Principal.
- 16.3 At the elementary level, non-classroom teachers and counselors shall not be used as substitute teachers and teachers shall not be required to cover two (2) or more classrooms simultaneously, except on a voluntary basis or in an emergency situation.

#### **ARTICLE 17**

#### PROFESSIONAL LEARNING, EDUCATIONAL IMPROVEMENT, AND COURSE REIMBURSEMENT

#### 17.1 Course Reimbursement

a) Course reimbursement

The District will pay for fees and tuition for courses taken directly with an accredited university, including in-service courses taken through Acton-Boxborough Regional School District or the EDCO Collaborative, which are taken outside of the school day with advance approval of the Superintendent or designee. Courses taken through third party companies including, but not limited to, Learner's Edge or Professional Development Institute shall not be reimbursed. An individual teacher shall have the option of receiving reimbursement of up to \$1,200 per year for courses taken under these guidelines. The budget for course reimbursements will be \$75,000

Reimbursement shall be received by the teacher within two months after receipt of the transcript by the Superintendent or designee. Reimbursement for course(s) taken during the spring semester or during a summer session shall be conditional upon the teacher's returning to the employ of the District for the school year which begins the September following the completion of such course(s). Funds for fall, spring and summer professional learning opportunities shall be budgeted separately, and awarded each period on a first-come-first-serve basis; however, prior to approving a second request by a teacher, first requests by other teachers will be accommodated based on available funds.

- b) In-service credit will be granted for approved AB or EDCO courses. Course reimbursement will continue to be provided for EDCO courses.
- c) At least  $\frac{1}{3}$  of credits must be in a teacher's content area, and  $\frac{1}{3}$  in Pedagogy. The remaining third can be content or pedagogy.
- d) Teachers will not receive more than 18 credits in any fiscal year unless approved by the District. Courses taken in excess of 18 credits will not be carried over to another year.
- 17.2 The Committee will pay the reasonable expenses (including fees, meals, lodging and/or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend workshops, seminars, conferences or other

professional learning sessions at the request and/or with the advance approval of the Superintendent (or their designee). Funds for fall, spring and summer professional learning opportunities shall be budgeted separately, and awarded each period on a first-come-first-serve basis.

17.3 It is expected that a nurse shall complete the minimum number of Registered Nurse Continuing Education Units as prescribed by the Commonwealth Board of Nurse Examiners or other competent authority. The Committee will pay for the fees and tuition for such units which are taken with the advance approval of the Superintendent. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, unless the budget therefore has been expended. An individual nurse may receive reimbursement up to \$600.00 maximum per year. Such reimbursement shall be received by the nurse within two months after receipt of the transcript by the Superintendent.

### ARTICLE 18 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

- 18.1 A Research and Development Program shall exist to take advantage of teacher resources for the improvement of the schools by affording personnel opportunities to work on self-initiated proposals. Proposals for projects to be carried out under the Research and Development Program may include such matters as curriculum planning, evaluation and selection of new materials, development of original materials, plans for implementing new teaching techniques, preparation of student reading lists, setting up experimental laboratory blocks, evaluation system, or any other worthwhile endeavor. No person who has submitted an R & D proposal will participate in deliberations on Research and Development Programs for that particular year.
- 18.2 Any teacher or teachers may submit to the appropriate Administrators, a proposal in which the following are indicated:
  - a) Describe the nature of the work and what it might accomplish in terms of meeting an identified need.
    - 1. Document the need as well as possible.
    - 2. Develop objectives to meet the need.
  - b) Describe the procedures that will be used to achieve the objectives including:
    - 1. The number and names of teachers the project would involve with a contact person indicated.
    - 2. The estimated length of time required to complete the project. Proposed dates would be helpful, if possible.
    - 3. A schedule or sequence for accomplishment of the different objectives or phases of the project.

- 4. An estimate of expenses for supplies, materials, travel, consultants, teachers' salaries (at the rate given in 22.10), and R&D leader's salary (at the rate given in 22.10) with subtotals and a grand total for the cost of the proposed project.
- c) Describe the evaluation procedures to be used.
  - 1. What method of evaluation do you plan for your proposal?
  - 2. What criteria will be used to determine the success or relative success of the proposal?
- 18.3 Teachers making a proposal for a project under this program must submit their proposal, as described in Section 22.2, to the Central Office no later than April 1. Such proposal must be in writing, but may be in outline form.
- 18.4 A teacher or teachers who submit such a proposal will receive written notification of the Superintendent's action on it whenever practicable by April 15th, but no later than May 15th. Action by the Superintendent may take any of the following forms.
  - a) Approval.
  - b) Delayed approval. (To be used in the event that the Superintendent favors the proposal, but lacks sufficient funds for immediate approval, in which case the project will be given consideration for approval, at a future time.)
  - c) Non-approval, accompanied by reasons for the Superintendent's decision.
- 18.5 All work on such projects shall be performed on school premises, unless the nature of the work requires otherwise.
- 18.6 The Superintendent shall be notified as soon as reasonably possible if unforeseen developments make it impossible to carry out an approved project.
- 18.7 A teacher or teachers responsible for a project shall submit a report, upon completion of the project, to the Superintendent and appropriate Administrators setting out the results of their work.
- 18.8 A High School Department Leader, Junior High Coordinator, Student Services Chairperson, and Nurse Leader may, pursuant to this Article, submit a proposal for one additional work period beyond the end of the school year which shall not be more than two (2) weeks in duration. The provisions of Sections 18.2, 18.3, 18.4, 18.6, 18.7 shall apply with respect to any such proposal.
- 18.9 The Association recognizes that the District may make curriculum changes from time to time. It is the intention of the District, to the extent practical, to announce any such changes prior to April 15

- of the school year prior to the school year in which such changes are to become effective.
- 18.10 Teachers working on R&D will receive additional compensation as listed in Schedule B. R&D participants will have the option to receive one in-service credit, at the rate of one credit per eighteen (18) hours, the option to be at the teacher's discretion.
- 18.11 Curriculum Specialists who work days in the summer will be paid at the R&D Leader rate.

### ARTICLE 19 PROTECTION

- 19.1 Teachers will immediately report all cases of assault, harassment, or bullying, including electronic forms of communication, suffered by them in connection with their employment to the Principal concerned and to the Superintendent in writing.
- 19.2 This report will be forwarded to the Superintendent, or their designee, who will comply with any reasonable request from the teacher for information in their possession relating to the incident or the persons involved, and will act in appropriate ways as liaison between the teacher, the police, and the courts.
- 19.3 The Committee agrees that they shall procure insurance to indemnify members of the bargaining unit to the extent permitted under Section 9 of Chapter 258 of the General Laws.
- 19.4 Teachers will report cases of assault and battery committed on any student upon the school grounds of which they have direct knowledge to the building Principal as soon as possible. When, in their professional judgment, teachers consider it appropriate, they shall also report cases of verbal assault. If the Principal so directs, reports made under this section shall be in writing.

### ARTICLE 20 INSURANCE AND ANNUITY PLAN

- 20.1 District will pay:
  - a) Fifty percent (50%) of the cost of a \$15,000 term life insurance plan of the type presently available to teachers:
  - b) Fifty percent (50%) of the cost of individual or family coverage, whichever applies in the particular case, for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield preferred provider PPO plan, or a substantially equivalent plan with benefits not less than presently realized to be mutually agreed; 50% for any other indemnity plans the District may offer from time to time; 50% for any preferred provider PPO plans the District may offer from time to time, and seventy-five percent (75%) for any HMO plans the District may offer from time to time.

- c) Health insurance premiums shall be paid with pre-tax dollars in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws.
- 20.2 A teacher's health insurance coverage will be continued during the period of an unpaid leave of absence granted pursuant to Article 8, provided the teacher pays the total monthly cost of such coverage to the appropriate District within seven (7) days from the due date.
- 20.3 Teachers will be eligible to participate in a "tax sheltered" Annuity Plan established pursuant to current state and federal laws and regulations.
- 20.4 Teachers will be eligible to participate in a Group Dental Insurance Plan at the individual's expense.
- 20.5 The Association agrees to participate in the Insurance Advisory Committee should the Town convene said committee. In the event that an agreement is reached requiring unit members to pay a higher insurance premium contribution, then the Association shall have the right to re-open the contract for the limited purpose of negotiating a salary increase prior to the implementation of any increase to insurance premium contributions.

## ARTICLE 21 TEXTBOOKS

- 21.1 The Committee shall continue to provide sufficient textbooks to ensure that each student in a the classroom has textbooks for their own use.
- 21.2 The initiative for the selection and changes of textbooks is expected to come from the appropriate faculty, which will make its decisions through such committees and procedures which may from time to time appear convenient and efficacious to such faculty. Such decisions are subject to the approval of the Superintendent; however, such approval will ordinarily be limited to determinations of budgetary priorities.

# ARTICLE 22 DUES DEDUCTION

22.1 The Committee agrees to deduct from the salaries of teachers who have on file with the appropriate Committee an executed current Dues Deduction Authorization Card in the form set out below, dues for the Acton-Boxborough Education Association, Massachusetts Teachers Association, and/or the National Education Association and to transmit the monies to the Acton-Boxborough

Education Association Treasurer. Teacher authorization shall be in writing in the form set below:

"Dues Deduction Authorization Card"
Name:
Address:
I hereby request and authorize the District of the Acton-Boxborough Regional District School Committee to deduct from my earnings and transmit to the Treasurer of Acton-Boxborough Education Association \$ to provide for regular payment of the annual membership dues of the Acton-Boxborough Education Association, Massachusetts Teachers Association, and the National Education Association in equal monthly deductions from the second paycheck in October and continuing through the second paycheck in May. This authorization may be withdrawn by me by giving at least sixty (60) days' notice in writing of such withdrawing to the appropriate School Committee named above. I further understand that if I leave the system or withdraw this authorization before the end of the school year the balance due will be deducted from my last paycheck upon leaving or prior to the effective date of the withdrawal of this authorization, as the said moneys so deducted and transmitted in accordance with this authorization, and relieve either
or both of said Committee, and any or all officers of either or both of them from any liability thereof.
Teacher's Signature: Date:
Deductions referred to in Section 23.1 will be made in eight (8) equal payments in amounts certified by the Treasurer as being the regular membership dues of the Association, the Massachusetts

22.3 The Acton-Boxborough Regional Treasurer will submit the amount of the deduction to the Association Treasurer as soon as is reasonably possible after the issuance of the paycheck from

which the deductions were taken.

month commencing in October and continuing through the second paycheck in May.

Teachers Association, and the National Education Association on the second paycheck of each

22.2

- 22.4 The provisions of this Article 23 shall be subject to the requirements of Section 17C of Chapter 180 of the General Laws including the requirement that the Treasurer of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, as the case may be, shall be satisfied by such evidence as they/them may require that the Treasurer of the Association has given to the Association, a bond, in the form approved by the Commissioner of Corporations and Taxation, for the faithful performance of his or her duties, in a sum and with such surety or sureties as are satisfactory to either or both of the above described Treasurers, as the case may be.
- 22.5 The Association shall indemnify and save the Committee harmless against any claim, demand, suit

or other form of liability that may arise out of, or by reasons of, action taken or not taken by either or both of the Committee for the purpose of complying with this Article or in compliance with any dues deduction authorization furnished to either or both of the Committee.

# ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL INJURY AND PROPERTY LOSS

- 23.1 A teacher who, as the result of an accident or assault which occurs in the course of their employment, is injured and is required to be absent from their duties as a teacher, will be paid their accrued sick leave, as provided in Article 8 (less workmen's compensation or any other disability income benefits to which they/them may be entitled). A claim under this section must be supported by satisfactory evidence if the Superintendent so requests. The Superintendent reserves the right to retain a physician at their own expense who may determine the condition of the teacher.
- 23.2
- 1. The teacher will report the incident on the appropriate form within one week.
- 2. The teacher will document the incident stating such specifics as: (a) a description of the damaged, destroyed or stolen article; (b) the circumstances under which the problem occurred; (c) why the article was on school property (preferably how it impacts the "course of their employment"); (d) the "fair market value" of the article--written estimate (professional or applicable); (e) when the incident was reported to the police if appropriate.
- 3. Settlement will be made only up to the amount not covered by personal insurance (i.e. deductible amount). The teacher must submit a copy of their insurance documenting the deductible amount and the balance not covered by the policy.
- 4. For autos, only damage which represents clear vandalism will be covered.
- 5. In no case will damages of more than \$250 be paid to an individual who has no insurance.
- 23.3 At the request of the Committee, the Association's Professional Rights and Responsibilities Committee will review any claim arising under this Article and make a recommendation to the teacher and the Committee as to the merits of the claim.

## ARTICLE 24 GENERAL

- 24.1 If negotiation meetings between the Committee and the Association are scheduled during a school day, the representatives of the Association will be relieved from all regular duties without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit their participation in such meetings. If it is necessary for a teacher to attend an arbitration hearing or fact-finding proceeding held pursuant to this Agreement during the school day, they/them will, upon twelve (12) hours notice to their Principal, be released without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit attendance at such hearing or fact-finding proceeding. One (1) representative of the Association will, upon twelve (12) hours notice to their Principal, be released without loss of pay in order to permit attendance at such hearing or fact-finding proceedings.
- 24.2 Copies of official School Committee minutes shall be placed in each Principal's office for the use of interested teachers. Copies of other School Committee documents or reports to which a resident of Acton or Boxborough would have access will be placed in the Superintendent's office for the use of interested teachers. Requests by the Association for additional information may be addressed to the appropriate Committee.
- 24.3 The expense of providing a mutually-agreed upon number of copies of this Agreement will be shared by the Association and the Committee.
- 24.4 This Agreement constitutes policy of the Committee for the term of said Agreement, and the Committee will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect as policy of the Committee.

# ARTICLE 25 STAFF CHILDREN TUITION

- As a benefit for employees covered by the agreement, the children of Unit A members may attend schools in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School System at no charge provided application is made no later than November 1 of the year before the child would attend school in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School System.
- 25.2 There shall be a maximum limit of three (3) such children per grade level in grades K-8. If more than three (3) children apply for admission, then three (3) shall be selected by lottery administered jointly by the Association and the Committee. If a lottery is required, it shall take place as soon as possible after the above mentioned registration deadline.
- 25.3 Staff children admitted under article 30 will be subject to any conditions, fees, and tuition charged to other Acton-Boxborough students.

- 25.4 If a Unit A member's child is currently enrolled in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School System, their siblings will be guaranteed admission. Sibling admissions shall not be restricted to the limits outlined in Section 30.2.
- 25.5 There shall be no limit on the number of such children in grades 9-12. However, the application deadline in Section 30.1 above must be met.
- 25.6 K-6 teachers who reside in Acton or Boxborough may have their children assigned to the school in which they teach.
- 25.7 If the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District remains a choice community, and in the event any provision of the School Choice Law is in conflict with Article 30, the language of Article 32 shall be implemented for the purpose of negotiating a substitute provision in compliance with the requirement of such law or regulation.

# ARTICLE 26 NO DISCRIMINATION

There shall be no discrimination, restraint or coercion by the Committee or the Association against any teacher because of membership or non-membership in the Association or participation in its affairs or because of a teacher's race, color, creed, national origin, age, as defined by state law, gender, sexual orientation, as defined by law, marital status, or the lawful exercise by a teacher of political activity outside of school, as provided by law. Grievances alleging violations of this article shall not be advanced beyond Level Three of Article 4 and shall not be subject to arbitration under Article 5, but other remedies may be pursued as provided by law.

# ARTICLE 27 PRECEDENCE OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The accomplishment of the purposes of the existence of the Acton-Boxborough Regional District School is paramount in the interests of the parties hereto, as well as in the public interest. In the administration of all matters covered by this Agreement, the Committee and the Association are governed by the provisions of this Agreement and any existing or future laws and regulations and amendments thereto which may be applicable, and this shall at all times be applied in accordance with and subject to such laws and regulations. Should any provision of this Agreement be deemed to be in conflict with any such laws or regulations, it may become the subject matter of discussion by the parties hereto for the purpose of attempting to negotiate a substitute provision in compliance with the requirements of such law or regulation.

## **ARTICLE 28**

## **DURATION**

- 28.1 This Agreement shall become effective as of July 1, 2020, and shall remain in effect through June 30, 2023.
- 28.2 This Agreement contains increases in salaries and fringe benefits above the levels of such salaries and fringe benefits which were in effect prior to the effective dates of the Agreement and of Schedules A and B thereof. Such increases shall be implemented and paid to teachers to the extent permitted by applicable laws, orders and regulation.

# ARTICLE 29 KINDERGARTEN TEACHING POSITIONS

## 29.1 Teaching Hours and Teaching Load

The single session half-day kindergarten teacher shall follow the regular school year. The district will determine whether the single session kindergarten teacher shall teach mornings all year or mornings for one-half the school year afternoons and for the other half of the school year. Single session half-day kindergarten teachers shall be expected to attend the Thursday afternoon professional learning and collaborative times.

## 29.2 Conferences

During fall and spring conference time, a kindergarten teacher who teaches both the morning and the afternoon sessions of half day kindergarten shall receive two sessions of leave from the classroom to conduct conferences. A substitute teacher shall be hired in their place. A single session kindergarten teacher shall receive one session of leave.

## 29.3 Intersession

A kindergarten teacher who teaches both the morning and the afternoon sessions of half day kindergarten shall have a forty (40) minute duty-free period between sessions provided the administration can arrange the schedule consistent with other requirements.

## ARTICLE 30 REDUCTION IN STAFF

- 30.1 In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of teachers with professional status included in the bargaining unit as defined in Article 1, teachers without professional status shall be dismissed before teachers with professional status. During any reduction in staff, teachers with professional status shall be dismissed in accordance with the criteria outlined in Sections 31.2 and 31.3.
- 30.2 During a reduction in staff that impacts teachers with professional status, seniority may only be considered a tiebreaker for dismissal after job performance has been considered. A teacher's job

performance shall be defined by the teacher's overall summative evaluation ratings, with proficient being considered equal to exemplary. Up to five (5) years of the most recent summative evaluation ratings will be used to consider a teacher's job performance, excluding the most recent evaluation ongoing during the year of the reduction in staff.

- 30.3 A teacher with professional status whose position is eliminated is entitled to positions outside their current department, professional role, or building, providing that they/them is qualified for the position in question, and provided that the position in question is currently held by a teacher without professional status, or currently held by a less senior teacher of equal or lesser rated job performance as defined in Section 31.2. A teacher's minimum qualifications for a position shall be defined as appropriate licensure and at least one year of prior experience in the last 15 years teaching the relevant subject matter or working in the same professional role.
- 30.4 Seniority shall be defined as length of service in the Acton, Boxborough, or Acton-Boxborough school district(s) inclusive of approved leaves of absence. Seniority shall be documented in a master list maintained by the Association and the Committee. The computation of length of service shall commence from a teacher's first working day when students are in session. In cases where more than one teacher's length of services commences on the same school day said teachers' names shall be selected in a random drawing to establish specific placement on the seniority list. The first name chosen in such a drawing shall be credited with more seniority than any subsequent names drawn in that procedure. The second name drawn shall have the next most seniority rights, and so on, until all names have been drawn. As each new teacher is employed they/them will have their name placed at the bottom of a master seniority list. In the case of broken years the years of seniority shall be adjusted to add the years of prior service to the years of seniority from the current employment once the teacher has attained professional status after their return.
- a) Teachers who are to be affected by a reduction in staff must be notified in writing no later than June 15th that the Superintendent has decided that the teacher be dismissed. Said notice shall than June 15<sup>th</sup> that the Superintendent has decided that the teacher be dismissed include the specific reasons for the reduction in staff. Teachers who have been dismissed during a reduction in staff shall be entitled to recall rights for a period of two (2) years from the effective date of their respective dismissals. Teachers dismissed effective at the same time will be in a separate recall pool. Teachers in the most recently dismissed recall pool will be called back first, so long as they are qualified for the open positions(s) from which they were dismissed. During the recall period, teachers shall be notified by certified mail to their last address on record. Teachers being recalled from a reduction in staff must indicate their willingness to be available for such position within two (2) weeks of the receipt of the certified letter or recall. Failure to do so shall mean the teacher has waived their recall rights, if the position to which the teacher is being recalled was one that would be at least one academic year in length. Teachers part of a reduction in staff may refuse recall positions which are shorter in length than one academic year without forfeiting their seniority rights to recall. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the

time of the reduction in staff shall be restored in full upon re-employment within the recall period. During the recall period teachers who have been part of a reduction in staff shall be given preference on the substitute list if they so desire.

- b) Employees part of a reduction in staff may continue group health and life insurance coverage during the recall period as provided by the district to members of the bargaining unit by reimbursing the district for total premium costs. Failure to forward premium payments to the district or refusal to return to employment upon recall will terminate this option.
- c) After a reduction in staff, the Superintendent agrees not to hire any new teachers unless no teacher part of said reduction is qualified to fill any open or new position, or all qualified teachers part of said reduction have declined an offer to fill the vacancy. A list specifying the seniority of each member of the bargaining unit shall be prepared by the Superintendent and forwarded to the President of the Association within thirty (30) days following the execution of this Agreement. An updated "seniority list" shall be supplied by the Superintendent annually thereafter.

# ARTICLE 31 PARAPROFESSIONALS

- 31.1 Teachers shall be involved in the placement of paraprofessionals in their classrooms to the extent that the paraprofessional to be placed in a teacher's classroom will be consistent with the needs of the specific class in question in the judgment of the teacher involved.
- Paraprofessionals shall only assume those duties in the classroom which, in the judgment of the teacher involved are deemed to be in the best interest of the educational process.

# ARTICLE 32 ADMINISTRATIVE SELECTION COMMITTEE

- 32.1 The Committee agrees that the Association will be represented by an Association appointee on any committee, other than one composed solely of Principals and/or Central Office, established to recommend candidates for administrative positions to the Committee or the Superintendent. The Association representative shall maintain full voting rights and any other rights equivalent to those of any other committee member.
- 32. 2 Teachers will be solicited to participate in expressing their views regarding the construction or remodeling of a school. The Committee will recommend to the appropriate appointing authority that it consider appointing a member of the teaching staff to the committee which is responsible for the construction of a new school.

# ARTICLE 33 TEACHER NOTIFICATION

The Committee agree to notify each teacher by the date of the first paycheck each school year of the following: (1) the number of sick days they have accumulated as of the first school day of September of that same school year, and (2) any requirement that a teacher take an in-service course that school year under the provisions of Section 18.1.

# ARTICLE 34 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 34.1 The purpose of the procedure set forth hereinafter is to produce prompt and equitable solutions to grievances. The Committee and the Association desire that such procedure shall always be as informal and confidential as may be appropriate for the grievance involved at the procedural level involved. Nothing in this agreement shall prevent any teacher from individually presenting any grievance of such teacher.
- 34.2 A grievance shall mean a complaint by a teacher or group of teachers concerning wages, hours and conditions of employment.
- 34.3 Every effort shall be made by the aggrieved teacher and appropriate immediate superior to arrive at a settlement of the matter involved before resorting to the formal grievance procedure. The aggrieved teacher may, whenever feasible, first discuss the grievance with the Professional Rights and Responsibilities Committee of the Association or its equivalent.
- 34.4 If the designated school official fails to provide a decision within the specified time limits, the grievance shall be deemed to have been denied on the day the decision was due, and the grievance shall be qualified to be carried to the next higher level.
- 34.5 No grievance shall be considered which is not presented within the time limits specified in Level One. Failure to appeal a decision to the next higher level within the specified time limits shall be considered as acceptance of the decision.
- 34.6 The formal processing of grievances shall be undertaken as listed below and shall be undertaken only during non-assigned hours.

## LEVEL ONE

a) If the matter has not been settled to the aggrieved teacher's satisfaction by informal discussion as provided in Section 35.3 of this Article, the teacher shall, within fifteen (15) days after the date on which the circumstances giving rise to the grievance became known to the aggrieved teacher, present a grievance orally or in writing to the appropriate Principal or Director.

b) Within five (5) days after receipt of the grievance by the appropriate Principal or Director, he or she, or a designated representative shall meet with the teacher and the representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Principal or Director shall provide a decision in writing within five (5) days of the date of this meeting.

## LEVEL TWO

- a) If the grievance has not been settled at Level Two to the satisfaction of the aggrieved teacher, the grievance shall be presented in writing to the Superintendent within five (5) days of the receipt of the Superintendent's decision.
- b) Within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance by the Superintendent, their designated representative shall meet with the teacher and a representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Superintendent or their representative shall provide a decision in writing within five (5) days of the meeting.

#### LEVEL THREE

- a) If the grievance involves an Appointing Authority executive matter including but not limited to issues involving hiring, assignments, leaves, promotions, evaluations, and disciplinary matters and has not been settled at Level Two to the satisfaction of the aggrieved teacher, the aggrieved teacher may not appeal to the District and may file for arbitration in accordance with law. If the grievance does not involve an Appointing Authority matter, it shall be presented in writing to the School Committee, within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Superintendent's decision.
- b) The Committee shall meet with the aggrieved teacher and the Association representative not later than twenty-five (25) days after it has received written notification from the Association that the Superintendent's decision is unsatisfactory.
- c) The Committee shall provide its decision in writing to the aggrieved teacher and to the President of the Association or their designated representative within ten (10) days after the meeting specified in subparagraph (b) of Level Three.
- d) If the grievance is not settled at Level Three, it may be taken to arbitration by the Association under the terms of Article 36 of this Agreement.
- 34.7 If the Committee and the Association or the aggrieved teacher (in instances in which the teacher pursues the grievance without the intervention of the Association) agree, a grievance may be presented initially to the Superintendent at Level Two (with a copy to the appropriate Principal or Director), within the fifteen (15) day time limit referred to in Level One being

applicable to such initial presentation. Within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the grievance by the Superintendent, they/them or, their designated representative, shall meet with the teacher and a representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance. The Superintendent or their representative shall provide their decision in writing within ten (10) days of the date of that meeting.

- 34.8 If a teacher presents a grievance without representation by the Association, the disposition of the grievance shall be consistent with the provisions of Agreement. The Association shall be notified of the initiation of the grievance at Level One hereof (or Level Two hereof, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 35.7) and shall, if the Association so requests, be heard at each step thereof, and shall be notified of the decision reached at each level.
- 34.9 Settlements of grievances under this Article or awards under Article 5 may or may not be retroactive as the equities of each case may demand, but in no event shall a settlement be retroactive beyond more than fifteen (15) days prior to the date on which the grievance was presented in Level One hereof (of Level Two, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 35.7).

## ARTICLE 35 ARBITRATION

- 35.1 A grievance involving the interpretation or application of a provision of this Agreement which has not been settled in accordance with the provision of Article 35 may be taken to arbitration, subject to the provisions of this Article, by either of the Committee or the Association.
- 35.2 A grievance involving the interpretation or application of a provision of this Agreement which has been settled in accordance with the provisions of Article 35 may be taken to arbitration, subject to the provision of this Article, by either of the Committee, provided that such Committee did not approve the settlement.
- 35.3 The party desiring arbitration shall notify the other parties to this Agreement of its intention to do so by letter presented to the Chairperson of the Committee and to the President of the Association, or to the designated representative of either, within twenty (20) days of the date of receipt of the notice of the decision at Level Three of Article 35.
- 35.4 Arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and then applicable Voluntary Labor Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association to the extent that such rules are not in conflict with provisions of this Agreement.
- 35.5 The Committee or the Association shall have standing to raise a question of arbitrability during the arbitration or in an appropriate forum.

- 35.6
- a) Each party to arbitration shall bear the cost of preparing and presenting its own case.
- b) The expenses of the arbitration proceedings, including the fees and expenses, if any, of the arbitrator, shall be borne equally by the Committee and the Association.
- 35.7 The function of the arbitrator is to determine the interpretation and application of specific provisions of this Agreement. There shall be no right in arbitration to obtain, and no arbitrator shall have any authority or power to award or determine any change in, modification or alteration of, addition to, or detraction from, any of the provisions of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator, if within the scope of their power and authority under this Agreement and made in accordance herewith, shall be final and binding on the parties and on the teachers. Unless the parties otherwise agree, each grievance shall be separately processed in any arbitration proceedings hereunder, and the arbitrator shall furnish their opinion in writing specifying the reasons for their decision. The arbitrator shall not render a decision contrary to state or federal law.
- 35.8 No arbitrator shall have any authority or power to award any settlement to be retroactive beyond more than fifteen (15) days prior to the date on which the grievance was presented in Level One hereof (or Level Two hereof, if the grievance is initiated at that level pursuant to Section 35.7).

# ARTICLE 36 CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS

- 36.1 The Association agrees that no Association officer, Association representative or teacher shall engage in, induce or encourage any strike (whether sympathetic, general or of any other kind), walkout, work stoppage, sit down, slow down, withholding of services, boycott (whether direct or indirect), concerted resignation or any other direct or indirect interference with the operation of the school district or school system. The Committee each agrees not to conduct a lockout.
- 36.2 The Association and its members, individually and collectively, agree that if there is a violation of Section 37.1, any or all teachers violating this clause will, at the discretion of the Superintendent, be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge or suspension, and the only question that will be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure is that of participation or involvement as described above.
- 36.3 In the event of a violation of this Article, either the Committee or the Association, as the case may be, may at its option institute any or all proceedings in a court of law or in equity or in arbitration pursuant to the procedure described in Article 36.

## **SCHEDULE A SALARIES**

## Teachers & Nurses Scale for 2020-2021 **Base Annual Salary**

1.5% increase over 2019-2020 (Days 90+)

Years	Bachelor's Degree	Bachelor's B + 15	Master's or Bachelor's +36*	Master's M + 15	Master's M + 30	Master's M + 45	Doctorate or Master's +60*
1	\$50,670	\$51,791	\$54,564	\$55,704	\$58,257	\$59,967	\$61,699
2	\$52,943	\$54,073	\$56,776	\$57,979	\$60,552	\$62,261	\$63,992
3	\$55,193	\$56,328	\$59,127	\$60,229	\$62,843	\$64,559	\$66,275
4	\$57,595	\$58,734	\$61,553	\$62,703	\$65,273	\$67,002	\$68,709
5	\$60,579	\$61,722	\$64,589	\$65,748	\$68,361	\$70,096	\$71,827
6	\$63,479	\$64,633	\$67,526	\$68,680	\$71,305	\$73,053	\$74,800
7	\$67,148	\$68,291	\$71,263	\$72,436	\$75,100	\$76,856	\$78,602
8	\$70,154	\$71,298	\$74,288	\$75,454	\$78,130	\$79,892	\$81,647
9	\$73,126	\$74,261	\$77,284	\$78,446	\$81,159	\$82,899	\$84,656
10	\$76,136	\$77,274	\$80,307	\$81,462	\$84,139	\$85,881	\$87,624
11	\$77,168	\$78,327	\$81,394	\$82,566	\$85,280	\$87,043	\$88,835
12	\$79,594	\$81,238	\$84,413	\$85,634	\$88,442	\$90,273	\$92,172
Supermax 13-17 Supermax	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
18+	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000

## Teachers & Nurses Scale for 2021-2022 **Base Annual Salary**

## 2.5% increase over 2020-2021

	Bachelor's	Bachelor's	Master's or	Master's	Master's	Master's	Doctorate or
Years	Degree .	B + 15	Bachelor's +36*	M + 15	M + 30	M + 45	Master's +60*
1	\$51,937	\$53,086	\$55,928	\$57,097	\$59,713	\$61,466	\$63,241
2	\$54,267	\$55,425	\$58,195	\$59,428	\$62,066	\$63,818	\$65,592
3	\$56,573	\$57,736	\$60,605	\$61,735	\$64,414	\$66,173	\$67,932
4	\$59,035	\$60,202	\$63,092	\$64,271	\$66,905	\$68,677	\$70,427
5	\$62,093	\$63,265	\$66,204	\$67,392	\$70,070	\$71,848	\$73,623
6	\$65,066	\$66,249	\$69,214	\$70,397	\$73,088	\$74,879	\$76,670
7	\$68,827	\$69,998	\$73,045	\$74,247	\$76,978	\$78,777	\$80,567
8	\$71,908	\$73,080	\$76,145	\$77,340	\$80,083	\$81,889	\$83,688
9	\$74,954	\$76,118	\$79,216	\$80,407	\$83,188	\$84,971	\$86,772
10	\$78,039	\$79,206	\$82,315	\$83,499	\$86,242	\$88,028	\$89,815
11	\$79,097	\$80,285	\$83,429	\$84,630	\$87,412	\$89,219	\$91,056
12	\$81,584	\$83,269	\$86,523	\$87,775	\$90,653	\$92,530	\$94,476
Supermax 13-17	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
Supermax 18+	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000

<sup>\*</sup> At least 1/3 of credits must be in content area, and 1/3 in pedagogy. The remaining third can be content or pedagogy.

\*\*Employees hired after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for Supermax on the Bachelor's lanes except for as outlined in article 7.9.

All degrees and credits shall be from an accredited College or University or from an in-service program approved by the Superintendent or designee.

<sup>\*</sup> At least 1/3 of credits must be in content area, and 1/3 in pedagogy. The remaining third can be content or pedagogy.

\*\*Employees hired after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for Supermax on the Bachelor's lanes except for as outlined in article 7.9.

All degrees and credits shall be from an accredited College or University or from an in-service program approved by the Superintendent or designee.

## Teachers & Nurses Scale for 2022-2023 Base Annual Salary

## 2.5% increase over 2021-2022

	Bachelor's	Bachelor's	Master's or	Master's	Master's	Master's	Doctorate or
Years	Degree	B + 15	Bachelor's +36*	M + 15	M + 30	M + 45	Master's +60*
1	\$53,235	\$54,413	\$57,326	\$58,524	\$61,206	\$63,003	\$64,822
2	\$55,624	\$56,811	\$59,650	\$60,914	\$63,618	\$65,413	\$67,232
3	\$57,987	\$59,179	\$62,120	\$63,278	\$66,024	\$67,827	\$69,630
4	\$60,511	\$61,707	\$64,669	\$65,878	\$68,578	\$70,394	\$72,188
5	\$63,645	\$64,847	\$67,859	\$69,077	\$71,822	\$73,644	\$75,464
6	\$66,693	\$67,905	\$70,944	\$72,157	\$74,915	\$76,751	\$78,587
7	\$70,548	\$71,748	\$74,871	\$76,103	\$78,902	\$80,746	\$82,581
8	\$73,706	\$74,907	\$78,049	\$79,274	\$82,085	\$83,936	\$85,780
9	\$76,828	\$78,021	\$81,196	\$82,417	\$85,268	\$87,095	\$88,941
10	\$79,990	\$81,186	\$84,373	\$85,586	\$88,398	\$90,229	\$92,060
11	\$81,074	\$82,292	\$85,515	\$86,746	\$89,597	\$91,449	\$93,332
12	\$83,624	\$85,351	\$88,686	\$89,969	\$92,919	\$94,843	\$96,838
Supermax							
13-17	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000**	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,000
Supermax							
18+	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000**	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000	\$1,000

<sup>\*</sup> At least 1/3 of credits must be in content area, and 1/3 in pedagogy. The remaining third can be content or pedagogy.

# SCHEDULE B SALARIES COACHING AND ADVISORS STIPENDS

- 1. Compensation for Coaches and Activity Advisors shall be based on the number of hours required for the sport or activity. As a result, the coach or advisor position will be placed on Category 1 through 10 listed below, which shall determine the salary for the position.
- 2. All stipends for Coaches and Advisors will be based on a percentage of the Varsity (Head) Football Coach's salary. That percent is based on the category placement of the position
- 3. The remainder of the athletic and non-athletic salaries are placed in categories based on the criteria used by the ABEA. The placement of those categories is attached.
- 4. The Drama Schedule and the Coaches/ Advisors Schedules are independent of one another.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Employees hired after July 1, 2014 will not be eligible for Supermax on the Bachelor's lanes except for as outlined in article 7.9.

All degrees and credits shall be from an accredited College or University or from an in-service program approved by the Superintendent or designee.

- 5. All coaches and advisors will be placed on respective Steps 1 through Step 4 based on years of experience.
- 6. The step differentials for the Schedule B salaries will be 10%, which is equivalent to the average step differential for coaches and advisors around the DCL.
- 7. The salaries for all JV, Assistant, and Freshman Coaches will be 65% of the salary of the Varsity (Head) Coach for the respective sport.
- 8. New Activity Advisor or Coaching positions may be added via a Side Letter of Agreement and then added to the Schedule following the next successive negotiations.
  - a. Varsity Head coaches will be evaluated by the Athletic Director. Assistant coaches and JV coaches will be evaluated by head coaches under the supervision of the Athletic Director.
  - b. Coaching and activity advisors positions are one year assignments. Coaches and advisors may be reappointed for subsequent years without posting the positions.
  - c. Stipends for coaches and activity advisors who go on a leave of absence will be prorated.
  - d. Coaches and advisors who are otherwise in an ABEA position may have ABEA representation at their request.

## **SCHEDULE B SALARIES**

2020-21				
Category	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$ 7,476	\$ 8,227	\$ 9,049	\$ 9,952
2	\$ 6,059	\$ 6,663	\$ 7,329	\$ 8,061
3	\$ 5,385	\$ 5,923	\$ 6,514	\$ 7,166
4	\$ 4,337	\$ 4,772	\$ 5,249	\$ 5,773
5	\$ 3,289	\$ 3,619	\$ 3,982	\$ 4,379
6	\$ 2,543	\$ 2,798	\$ 3,077	\$ 3,385
7	\$ 2,168	\$ 2,386	\$ 2,624	\$ 2,886
8	\$ 1,570	\$ 1,729	\$ 1,899	\$ 2,091
9	\$ 1,046	\$ 1,152	\$ 1,268	\$ 1,393
10	\$ 374	\$ 412	\$ 453	\$ 499
21-22	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$ 7,663	\$ 8,433	\$ 9,275	\$ 10,201
2	\$ 6,210	\$ 6,830	\$ 7,512	\$ 8,263
3	\$ 5,520	\$ 6,071	\$ 6,677	\$ 7,345

4	\$ 4,445	\$ 4,891	\$5,380	\$ 5,917
5	\$ 3,371	\$ 3,709	\$ 4,082	\$ 4,488
6	\$ 2,607	\$ 2,868	\$ 3,154	\$ 3,470
7	\$ 2,222	\$ 2,446	\$ 2,690	\$ 2,958
8	\$ 1,609	\$ 1,772	\$ 1,946	\$ 2,143
9	\$ 1,072	\$ 1,181	\$ 1,300	\$ 1,428
10	\$ 383	\$ 422	\$ 464	\$ 511
22-23	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4
1	\$ 7,855	\$ 8,644	\$ 9,507	\$ 10,456
2	\$ 6,365	\$ 7,001	\$ 7,700	\$ 8,470
3	\$ 5,658	\$ 6,223	\$ 6,844	\$ 7,529
4	\$ 4,556	\$ 5,013	\$ 5,515	\$ 6,065
5	\$ 3,455	\$ 3,802	\$ 4,184	\$ 4,600
6	\$ 2,672	\$ 2,940	\$ 3,233	\$ 3,557
7	\$ 2,278	\$ 2,507	\$ 2,757	\$ 3,032
8	\$ 1,649	\$ 1,816	\$ 1,995	\$ 2,197
9	\$ 1,099	\$ 1,211	\$ 1,333	\$ 1,464
10	\$ 393	\$ 433	\$ 476	\$ 524

## **HIGH SCHOOL STIPENDS**

The Stipend for all JV, Assistant and Freshman coaches will be 65% of the stipend of the Varsity Coach for the respective team.

Category 1 (100%)	Category 6 (34%)
Varsity (Head) Football Coach	Mock Trial
<b>Category 2 (81%)</b>	Science Olympiad
Varsity (Head) Basketball Coach	Senior Class Advisor
Varsity (Head) Hockey Coach	Speech and Debate (2 pos)
Varsity (Head) Lacrosse Coach	Window St/Creative Writing
Yearbook	Ocean Bowl
Category 3 (72%)	Category 7 (29%)
Academic Decathlon	Jazz Band
Band Director	Ambassador Program
Varsity (Head) Baseball Coach	Category 8 (21%)
Varsity (Head) Field Hockey Coach	ABCO
Varsity (Head) Soccer Coach	AB Human Rights
Varsity (Head) Softball Coach	Anime Crew
Varsity (Head) Spring Track Coach	Art Club
Varsity (Head) Volleyball Coach	ASHA

V (II 1) VAT: . E 1 C 1	ADD 11:
Varsity (Head) Winter Track Coach	AB Buddies
Varsity (Head) Softball Coach	Bio Builders
Category 4 (58%)	Common Ground
Newspaper	Curriculum Teacher Leader
Varsity (Head) Gymnastics Coach	Future Business Leaders
Varsity (Head) Ski Coach	Idealab
Varsity (Head) Swimming Coach	Interact Club
Varsity (Head) Tennis Coach	Invisible Children
Varsity (Head) Wrestling Coach	Junior Class Advisor
Varsity (Head) X-Country Coach	National Honor Society
Category 5 (44%)	Outdoor Club
Spectrum	Peer Leaders
Student Council	Recycling Group
Varsity (Head) Cheerleading Coach	TGIF Video Game
Varsity (Head) Golf Coach	Youth in Philanthropy
Category 6 (34%)	Category 9 (14%)
Envirothon	Chess Club
High School Trivia Team	Chinese Club
Mathleague	Freshman Class Advisor
	Sophomore Class Advisor
	Category 10 (5%)
	Student Interest Groups
	Elementary Clubs

# SCHEDULE B SALARIES COACHING AND ADVISORS STIPENDS JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL STIPENDS

Category 1 (100%)	
Category 2 (81%)	
Category 3 (72%)	A/V Auditorium Coordinator
Category 4 (58%)	Yearbook
Category 5 (44%)	Drama Club and Productions
	Head Coaches
	JH School Athletic Director
	JH Student Council
Category 6 (34%)	AB Blueprint
	Math Counts
	Science Olympiad
	JH Speech Team
Category 7 (29%)	Current Events
	Drama Club

	Jazz Band
Category 8 (21%)	Chorus
	Common Ground
	Curriculum Teacher Leader
	Dance Bollywood
	Literacy Club
	Ski Club
	Social Activism
Category 9 (14%)	Art
	Book Club
	Games Club
	Climate Club
	Creative Writing
	Engineering and Technology
	School Store
	Variety Show
Category 10 (5%)	Anime Club
	French Club
	Spanish Club
	Student Interest Groups
	Elementary Clubs

The student activity budget will be increased each year by the percentage increase negotiated for schedule B activities. The administration will work with the ABEA to review stipend amounts and to determine which clubs and activities are funded, and any that may be removed. Clubs will not be funded in the first year.

Elementary overnight stipends (Nature's Classroom, Merrowvista, Cape Cod) \$100 per night. Guidelines for non-overnight chaperone pay can be found in the District document, "Paid Chaperone Guidelines" that was agreed to with the ABEA.

Professional Learning Preparation Stipend\* \$100 \* For teachers who lead a class or workshop requiring significant preparations as part of a one time or ongoing professional learning opportunity not otherwise compensated as part of the district's professional learning program.

R&D Leader: Daily rate of \$225

R& D Participant: Daily rate of \$200 Chaperone Stipend: \$25 per hour\*

## **SYSTEM-WIDE STIPENDS**

2020-2021	2021-2022	2022-2023

<sup>\*</sup>This rate is subject to increase commensurately if the hourly rate for athletics event duties increases.

Mentor	\$2,906	\$2,979	\$3,053
Co-Coordinator (2 pos)			
Curriculum Specialist	\$4,063	\$4,165	\$4,269
Mentor	\$885	\$907	\$930
Mentor Buddy	\$443	\$454	\$465

## Schedule B JH and HS Drama Stipends

2020-2021

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Director:				
Musical, Fall	\$2,693	\$2,908	\$3,131	\$3,354
Play, Festival				
Crew Chief:				
Asst. Director;				
Musical Dir;	\$2,404	\$2,571	\$2,739	\$2,908
Choreographer;				
Set Design/Const				
Musician	\$615	\$670	\$729	\$784
Director:	\$2,015	\$2,302	\$2,573	\$2,797
Smaller Plays				
Tech Director	\$950	\$1,006	\$1,063	\$1,118
Smaller Plays				
Set Design	\$1,118	\$1,229	\$1,343	\$1,453
Smaller Plays				

## 2021-2022

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Director:				
Musical, Fall	\$2,760	\$2,981	\$3,209	\$3,438
Play, Festival				
Crew Chief:				
Asst. Director;				
Musical Dir;	\$2,464	\$2,635	\$2,807	\$2981
Choreographer;				
Set Design/Const				
Musician	\$630	\$687	\$747	\$804
Director:	\$2,065	\$2,360	\$2,638	\$2,867
Smaller Plays				
Tech Director	\$974	\$1,031	\$1,090	\$1,146
Smaller Plays				
Set Design	\$1,146	\$1,260	\$1,377	\$1,489
Smaller Plays				

## 2022-2022

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Director:				
Musical, Fall	\$2,829	\$3,056	\$3,289	\$3,524
Play, Festival				
Crew Chief:				
Asst. Director;				
Musical Dir;	\$2,526	\$2,701	\$2,877	\$3,056
Choreographer;				
Set Design/Const				
Musician	\$646	\$704	\$766	\$824
Director:	\$2,177	\$2,419	\$2,703	\$2,939
Smaller Plays				
Tech Director	\$998	\$1,057	\$1,117	\$1,175
Smaller Plays				
Set Design	\$1,175	\$1,292	\$1,411	\$1,526
Smaller Plays				

## 2020-2023

## Schedule C

2020-2021	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$7,700	\$7,900	\$8,100	\$8,300
Junior High Department Leader	\$5,200	\$5,400	\$5,600	\$5,800
Student Services Chairperson	\$5,200	\$5,400	\$5,600	\$5,800

2021-2022	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$7,893	\$8,098	\$8,303	\$8,508

Junior High Department Leader	\$5,330	\$5,535	\$5,740	\$5,945
Student Services Chairperson	\$5,330	\$5,535	\$5,740	\$5,945

2022-2023	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
High School Department Leader	\$8,090	\$8,300	\$8,511	\$8,721
Junior High Department Leader	\$5,463	\$5,673	\$5,884	\$6,094
Student Services Chairperson	\$5,463	\$5,673	\$5,884	\$6,094

## SCHEDULE D EXTRA CLASSES STIPENDS

For the duration of this agreement, a teacher who agrees to teach an additional section beyond the full time load of five (5) sections shall receive salary compensation in accordance with Schedule "D" below for a full year course. In the event that this assignment occurs during the school year, the teacher will receive a prorated salary adjustment in accordance with the schedule. Such pay shall be included as part of a teacher's base salary and will be computed as the equivalent of 20% of Master's Column, Step 3.

## **SCHEDULE D**

	2020-2021	2021-2022	2022-2023
Academic Subjects	\$11,738	\$12,031	\$12,332
,			

(Math, English, History, Science, World Language, Reading)

\$11,738 \$12,031 \$12,332

## **Specialists**

(Special Education, Speech/Language Counselor, OT, PT, Business, ESL,

Psychologist, Academic Support, Early Childhood)

\$11,738 \$12,031 \$12,332

## **Elective/Exploratories**

(Art, Music, Physical Education, Industrial Arts, Speech/Debate, Technology)

# SCHEDULE E ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM STIPENDS

For the duration of this agreement, a teacher who agrees to teach an alternative program course beyond the full time load of five (5) sections shall receive salary compensation in accordance with Schedule "E" below for a full year course. In the event that this assignment occurs during the school year, the teacher will receive a prorated salary adjustment in accordance with the schedule. Such pay shall be included as part of a teacher's base salary and will be computed as the equivalent of 12% of Master's Column, Step 3.

Other alternative program service positions shall be paid according to the percent of an alternative academic subject teachers pay as described above in the table below:

## ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM PERCENTAGES

Academic Subject Teacher	100
Psychologist/Counselor	100
Program Coordinator	80
Vocational Coordinator	80
Program Specialist	75
Transition Program Coordinator	60

## **SCHEDULE E**

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-2023	
Academic Subject Teacher	\$7,043	\$7,219	\$7,399	
Psychologist/Counselor	\$7,043	\$7,219	\$7,399	
Program Coordinator	\$5,634	\$5,775	\$5,919	
Vocational Coordinator	\$5,634	\$5,775	\$5,919	
Program Specialist	\$5,282	\$5,414	\$5,549	
Transition Program Coordinator	\$4,225	\$4,331	\$4,439	

# APPENDIX A ACTON-BOXBOROUGH REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT LETTER OF APPOINTMENT & SALARY PAYMENT SHEET

Τ	70	110	

TO:	Teacher
	Subject
	School

We are pleased to inform you that you have been appointed/reappointed to serve in the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District for the 20xx-xx school year.

Your employment will be subject to and governed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement in effect between the Acton-Boxborough Regional School Committee and the Acton-Boxborough Education Association (the "Agreement"), the policies and procedures of the Acton-Boxborough Regional School District, and all applicable local, state and federal laws. Your employment is contingent upon our receipt of a valid certificate for the position for which you have been appointed, in accordance with state law.

In accepting this appointment, you agree that, should you wish to resign from your position before the end of the school year, you will give the school at least 30 days advance written notice of your intention to do so (60 days advance written notice if your resignation is to be effective in September). The school may terminate your employment only in accordance with the Agreement and applicable laws. If your employment is terminated for any reason before June 30, your salary for the period of employment will be the amount of the salary stated below, on an annualized basis, divided by the number of days in the school year and multiplied by the number of days taught by you during the school year.

You may be required to travel between school buildings for the performance of your duties.

Your step placement and salary will be as follows:

FTE	Step	Base Pay	Supermax	Longevity	Total Pay

Superintendent

# Acton-Boxborough Regional School District Salary Payment Sheet

	Certified Staff and S	•	Unit A)					
From:	Deputy Superintend	dent						
Please	e fill in information on	asterisked line	s and cor	rect errone	ous inforr	nation or	the ot	her lines.
Name.								
	Address							
	State/Zip							
Iel#								
Schoo	l		_					
	ol and /or Dept. to se							
	e level and title							
	aff will receive 26 pay	` •		r the summ	er) unless	you not	ity us th	nat you
	o receive 21 pays wit ere ONLY if you wan	•		no lump ci	ım:			
Sigit II	ere ONLT if you wan	it to receive 21 p	pays willi	no lump si	uiii.			
•	anticipate a salary ch	•			-	•	•	•
•	ou anticipate a salary	•		•		•	-	
you.	receipt of paperwork	vernying your s	alary Cria	inge, a revi	seu appoi	nunenti	eller wii	ii be sent to
you.								
Signat	ure		Date	signed				
		n this form to H						
	NO CHANGES	WILL BE ALLO				RETUR	NED.	
		*******Do not	write bel	ow this line		Annual	Grana	
	Number of Checks					Alliluai	GIUSS	
FTE &	Step	1.00	2 M+30				Base F	Pav
\$xx,xxx	-		26					,
	ity Date	xx/xx/xxxx		Sup	permax	\$x,xxx		
Teache	er Years of Service	XX			Longe	-	\$x,xxx	
Locatio	ın.	A 0001	ınt	Employee	٨٥٥٥١	Total P unt Name	•	\$xx,xxx
<u>Locatio</u> Dollars	Biweekly Pay	Accol	וונ	Employee	ACCOL	int manne	FIE	
School	Name	Acct Number		Acc	ct Name			
	1.0	Cvv vvv	Cv vvv					

# APPENDIX B CONTRACT FOR EXTRA DUTIES

The Acton-Boxborough Regional Schothe	ool District agree(s) to employ	in
capacity of	during the	school year.
This agreement shall be subject to Schethe	ool Committee policy and the Ag	reement between the Committee and
Acton-Boxborough Education Associa \$	tion. The compensation for this p	position will be
The contract is given on a one year base. The contract may be terminated at any otherwise this contract may be terminated that if the termination is to become effective required. If this contract is terminated compensated only for duties complete.	y time by mutual consent of the enated upon written notice to the offective in September, written notical before the Teacher has complete	mployee and the School District, ther at least thirty (30) days, except ce of at least sixty (60) days shall be
The undersigned is to be paid half of t season.	he salary mid-way through the se	eason and half at the end of the
Superintendent	 Date	
Staff Member	 Date	

# APPENDIX C EDUCATOR EVALUATION CONTRACT LANGUAGE

## PART 1: INTRODUCTION

## 1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation

The purpose of our Educator Evaluation System is to promote student learning and achievement, by providing Educators with feedback for growth. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms and give targeted constructive feedback to Educators. Feedback and ratings are based on observations and discussions of practice, examination of evidence, and analysis of multiple measures of student learning, growth and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice.

### 2) Definitions

- A. Artifacts of Professional Practice: Products of an Educator's work and student work samples that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards.
- B. Caseload Educator: Educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- C. Classroom teacher: Educators who teach preK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- D. School Counselor: Educators who support students and families in their social and emotional well-being. Counselors will be evaluated using a rubric tailored to their specific positions.
- E. School Nurse: Educators who support students and families in their health and physical well-being. Nurses will be evaluated using a rubric tailored to their specific positions.
- F. Categories of Evidence: Multiple measures of Student Learning, Growth, and Achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of any duration; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).

- G. Educator(s): Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers, caseload educators, counselors, psychologists and school nurses unless otherwise noted.
- H. Educator Plan: The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's career stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of Educator Plans:
- Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one or two school years for Educators with Professional Teacher Status (PTS) who are rated proficient or exemplary.
- ii) Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement.
- iii) Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator of at least 30 calendar days and no more than one school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Educator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may include activities during the summer preceding the next school year.
- I. Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development; 3) Implementation of the Plan; 4) Mid-Cycle Review; and 5) Summative Evaluation.
- J. Goal: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement. Goals may be developed by individual Educators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who have the same role.
- K. Measurable: That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- L. Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Educators responsible for direct instruction will use at least one common assessment as part of Element 1-B-1. Educators can use any existing common assessment or may create a new common assessment. Educators will inform the supervisor of the assessment. Assessments will be common across the grade level or department within a school. Statewide growth measure(s) where available will be included as a multiple measure. These include MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SGP) or ACCESS

- (Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State) for English Learners, if applicable.
- M. Non-Observation Feedback: Written feedback may be provided during the evaluation cycle related to non-classroom standards and indicators. Non-observation feedback forms may be used to provide positive or negative feedback related to performance that happens outside of classroom instruction. Non-observation feedback forms will be in addition to the minimum number of observations of practice, and they will be considered part of the evaluation record.
- N. Observation: Notes and judgments made by an evaluator during one or more classroom or worksite visits(s) of any duration. Observations may take place in multiple settings and at various times. These include but are not limited to classrooms, meetings, professional learning activities, student or staff small group work, and/or interactions with students, parents/guardians, or colleagues. Observations will be followed up by a conversation between the evaluator and the educator and a written feedback form summarizing the conversation.
- O. Performance Rating: Describes the Educator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four performance ratings:
  - Exemplary: the Educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall. The rating of exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds proficient.
  - Proficient: the Educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
  - Needs Improvement: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
  - Unsatisfactory: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly
    improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's performance is
    consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered
    inadequate, or both.
- P. Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the impact of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
  - i) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
  - ii) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
  - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
  - iv) Standard 4: Professional Culture

- v) Impact of Professional Practice Goal(s)
- vi) Impact of Student Learning Goal(s)
- Q. Rubric: A tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to self-assess and to rate Educators on Performance Standards, these rubrics consists of:
  - 1. Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
  - 2. Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
  - 3. Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
  - 4. Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- R. Summative Evaluation: An evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator's Plan.
- S. Teacher: An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.
- T. Student Growth: At least two years of data from the District-determined Measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's rating on impact on student learning as high, moderate or low. Where more than two years of data is available, at least three year's data will be used. Data will be used to compare overall student growth in each Educator's classroom over time, not an individual student's growth over multiple years.

## PART 2: EVALUATION COMPONENTS

An Educator will be evaluated based on the following:

1) Observations and Discussions

Observations, discussions, and feedback are critical components of a successful evaluation process. The emphasis should be on evaluators visiting classrooms and discussions about teaching and learning.

A) For educators with professional status who were rated proficient or exemplary in the previous evaluation cycle, evaluators will complete at least five (5) unannounced observations of practice for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes each over the two year evaluation cycle.

If concerns develop about an educator who was rated proficient or exemplary in the previous evaluation cycle, the evaluator may add a mid-cycle review meeting with ratings in February. Ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory will only be given after a minimum of five (5) observations.

For educators without professional status, evaluators will complete a minimum of five (5) unannounced observations of practice for a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes each during the educator's one year evaluation cycle.

Evaluators may also provide non-observation feedback during the evaluation cycle to provide feedback to the educator related to non-classroom standards and indicators. These non-observation feedback forms can provide positive or negative feedback related to performance that takes place outside of classroom instruction. Non-observation feedback forms will be in addition to the minimum number of observations of practice, and they will be considered part of the evaluation record.

- B) For Educators in their first year with the district, the first observation of the school year will be at least 30 minutes, and it will be announced and scheduled with the Evaluator at least three (3) school days before the observation. The Educator and Evaluator will schedule a pre-observation meeting at least one (1) school day before the observation.
- C) For educators who work .5 or less, there will be four observations in each one year or two year evaluation cycle.
- D) Observations may take place in multiple settings and at various times. These include but are not limited to classrooms, meetings, professional learning activities, student or staff small group work, and/or interactions with students, parents/guardians, or colleagues.
- E) While goals may not be set until October, observations may start at the beginning of the school year.
- F) Observations relate to all forms of an educator's practice, not just goals.
- G) After an observation, the Educator and Evaluator will make every effort to meet and discuss the observation within three (3) school days, unless extraordinary circumstances prevent a meeting within that timeframe.
- H) The Evaluator will make every effort to provide a brief written summary of the observation to the Educator within three (3) school days of the discussion.
- I) The Educator will sign the written summary within three (3) school days of receiving it. If the educator has not signed the observation form, the mid-cycle review report or the summative report within three (3) school days of receiving it, the document will be considered signed.
- I) The Educator will have an opportunity to respond in writing to the written summary.

- J) If concerns develop during any observation and subsequent discussion, the Evaluator will document and share those concerns with the Educator.
- K) Any concerns documented in a mid-cycle or summative report must have been discussed with the educator prior to the mid-cycle or summative meeting.
- If concerns develop outside of an observation, those concerns will be documented and shared with the Educator within five school days on the non-observation feedback form.
   Non-observation feedback forms will be in addition to the minimum number of observations of practice.
- M) Discipline, including a documented letter of reprimand or suspension and any backup documentation, may be included as part of an educator's evaluation and subsequent ratings.
- N) A rating of needs improvement or unsatisfactory in standards I or II will result in an overall rating of needs improvement or unsatisfactory. A rating of needs improvement or unsatisfactory in standards III or IV may also result in an overall rating of needs improvement or unsatisfactory if the concerns outlined are determined by the evaluator to be serious enough to warrant an overall rating.

## 2) Evidence relevant to Performance Standards and Goals

Throughout the evaluation cycle, Evaluators and Educators are encouraged to discuss evidence relevant to Performance Standards and goals. If an Evaluator does not believe that he or she has enough evidence to determine a rating on each goal and standard, the Educator may be asked to provide evidence prior to the Mid-Cycle Review and/or Summative Evaluation Meetings. Any such requests must be made at least one week prior to the meetings and no later than May 1.

Evidence includes but is not limited to:

- A) Evidence of effective teaching practice.
- B) Evidence of student growth.
- C) Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional learning, contributions to the school community and professional culture.
- D) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families and the community.
- E) Evidence of impact of professional practice goal(s).
- F) Evidence of impact of student learning goal(s).
- G) Student feedback:

- 3) Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, which shall include:
  - A) Educators responsible for direct instruction will use at least one common assessment as part of Element 1-B-1. Educators can use any existing common assessment or may create a new common assessment. Educators will inform the supervisor of the assessment.

    Assessments will be common across the grade level or department within a school.
  - B) Statewide growth measure(s) where available will be included as a multiple measure. These include MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SGP) or ACCESS (Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State) for English Learners, if applicable.
  - C) Common assessments are not required for educators whose primary role is not as a classroom teacher. This includes nurses, social workers, counselors, psychologists, edtech specialists and curriculum specialists.

## 4) Rubrics

The rubrics are a guide used for the Educator's self-assessment, the Mid-Cycle Review, and the Summative Evaluation

## PART 3: EVALUATION CYCLE

- 1) Self-Assessment and Goal-Setting
  - A) At the start of the evaluation cycle, the Educator will complete a self-assessment and set goals. The Educator will meet with his or her Evaluator to discuss the self-assessment and goals by October 15, except for an Educator in his or her first year in the district who will meet with the Evaluator by November 15.
  - B) Goals will include:
    - i. At least one goal directly related to improving the Educator's own professional practice.
    - ii. At least one goal directly related to improving student learning.
  - C) Goals may be developed by individuals or groups of Educators, in collaboration with the Evaluator. Goals must be approved by the Evaluator by November 1.

D) For an Educator in his or her first year in the district, goals must be approved by the Evaluator by December 1.

## 2) Observations and Discussions

Observations, discussions, and feedback are critical components of a successful evaluation process. The emphasis should be on evaluators visiting classrooms and discussions about teaching and learning. Guidelines for observations are provided in Part 2, Section 1.

3) Evidence relevant to Performance Standards

Evidence is gathered and shared between the Educator and Evaluator throughout the evaluation cycle. Guidelines are provided in Part 2, Section 2.

## 4) Mid-Cycle Review

- A) Formative Assessment will be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle. There will be a Mid-Cycle Review which will include a meeting between the Educator and Evaluator followed by the completion of the Mid-Cycle Review Report.
- B) The Mid-Cycle Review Meeting
  - i. For Educators on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, one-year Directed Growth Plan, or an Improvement Plan, the Mid-Cycle Review Meeting will take place by early February. The Mid-Cycle Review Report will be completed and shared with the Educator by February 15.
  - ii. The Mid-Cycle Review Meeting for Educators on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan will take place in late May or early June. The Mid-Cycle Review Report will be completed and shared with the Educator by June 15 of the first year of the evaluation cycle.
- C) The Educator may bring, or be asked to provide, an update of progress on standards and goals to the Mid-Cycle Review Meeting. Any such requests must be made at least one week prior to the meetings and no later than May 1.
- D) At the meeting, the Evaluator will bring to the Educator's attention any areas of concern. Such concerns will be documented in the Mid-Cycle Review Report along with supports and resources the Educator may use to help address the concerns.
- E) The Educator will sign the Mid-Cycle Review Report within three (3) school days of receiving it. If the Mid-Cycle Review Report is not signed within three (3) school days, it will be considered signed.

F) The Educator will have an opportunity to respond in writing to the Mid-Cycle Review Report within two weeks of receiving the report.

## 5) Summative Evaluation

Rather than adopt a one size fits all approach to supervision and evaluation, the Massachusetts evaluation framework encourages Evaluators to look for trends and patterns in practice across multiple types of evidence and apply their professional judgment. There are no numbers or percentages that dictate ratings on Standards, the assessment of educator goals, or the Summative Performance Rating. The role of evidence and professional judgment in determination of ratings on performance Standards and an overall Summative Performance Rating is paramount in this process.

- A) The evaluation cycle concludes with a Summative Evaluation Meeting followed by a written report. The Summative Evaluation Meeting will take place after the last observation and before the Summative Report is written. At the meeting, the observations and evidence gathered throughout the year will be discussed to help the Evaluator determine ratings and prepare to write the Summative Report.
- B) The Summative Report must be provided to the Educator by June 15 of the year in which the cycle is completed. The Summative Report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth. The Summative Report will include ratings on the four Performance Standards and the impact of goals on professional practice and student learning.
- C) The Evaluator determines a rating on each Performance Standard based on:
  - i. Observations and discussions
  - ii. Multiple measures of student learning based on state and district guidelines
  - iii. Student feedback.
  - iv. Evidence provided by the Educator
  - v. Additional relevant information on an Educator's practice, that has been shared and discussed previously with the Educator, related to one or more Performance Standards.
- D) The Summative Performance Rating will be based on:
  - i. The ratings on each Performance Standard as described above
  - ii. An examination of evidence of the impact of goals on professional practice and student learning.

- E) To be rated proficient overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on Performance Standards 1 and 2: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment and Teaching All Students.
- F) The Rating on Impact on Student Learning will be based on Multiple Measures of Student Learning over multiple years of growth data. These Impact Ratings will help to determine an Educator's Growth Plan.
- G) Educators who wish to provide the Evaluator with additional evidence of the Educator's performance should do so by May 1.
- H) The Summative Report must be provided to the Educator by June 15. The Educator shall sign the final Summative Report within three (3) school days and have the right to respond in writing to the Report by July 1. If the educator hasn't signed the summative report within three school days, the report will be considered signed.
- I) The Evaluator will meet by June 15 with any Educator rated Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory to discuss a Directed Growth Plan or Improvement Plan, respectively, and supports to be put in place.
- J) A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report, and any response by the Educator, shall be filed in the Educator's personnel file.

## PART 4: EDUCATOR GROWTH PLANS

Every Educator will be placed on an Educator Growth Plan based on the prior year's Summative Performance Rating and rating on impact on student learning. All Educators with PTS will be placed on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan until initial ratings are determined. Educators without PTS will remain on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan until Professional Teacher Status is attained.

- 1) Educators with PTS Rated Proficient or Exemplary: Self-Directed Growth Plans
  - A) Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and whose rating on impact on student learning is moderate or high, will be on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan.
    - i. The Mid-Cycle Review report for Educators on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan will be completed and shared with the Educator by June 1 of the first year of the evaluation cycle.
    - ii. If concerns develop during the first year of a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the Evaluator will increase the frequency of observations. A mid-cycle review report may be added in February. Ratings will only be given in the February or June Mid-Cycle Review Report to those for whom concerns have developed based on a minimum of five (5) observations during this first year.

- iii. If an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is rated Needs Improvement in the June Mid-Cycle Review Report, the Educator will be placed on a one-year Directed Growth Plan for the following school year.
- iv. If an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is rated Unsatisfactory in the June Mid-Cycle Review Report, the Educator will be placed on an Improvement Plan for the following school year.

## B) Self-Directed Growth Plan

- i. The Mid-Cycle Review Report for Educators on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan will be completed and shared with the Educator by February 1.
- ii. If concerns develop during the one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the Evaluator will increase the frequency of observations.
- iii. If an Educator on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is rated Needs Improvement in the Summative Report, the Educator will be placed on a one-year Directed Growth Plan for the following school year.
- iv. If an Educator on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is rated Unsatisfactory in the Summative Report, the Educator will be placed on an Improvement Plan for the following school year.
- C) When an Educator with PTS changes schools, departments, or grade levels, the Evaluator may decide to place the Educator on a One-Year Self-Directed Growth Plan.
- 2) Educators without Professional Teacher Status (PTS): One-Year Self-Directed Growth Plan All Educators without PTS will be on a One-Year Self-Directed Growth Plan.
  - i. The Mid-Cycle Review Report for Educators on a one-year Self-Directed Growth Plan will be completed and shared with the Educator by February 1.
  - ii. If concerns develop for a non-PTS educator, the Evaluator will increase the frequency of observations. Ratings will only be given in the Mid-Cycle Review Report to those for whom concerns have developed based on a minimum of four (4) observations. Any concerns will be discussed at the Mid-Cycle review meeting and documented in the report.
  - iii. An educator without PTS who has been rated needs improvement or unsatisfactory will be given supports including a mentor to help improve.

- 3) Educators with PTS Rated Needs Improvement: One-Year Directed Growth Plan
  - A) Educators with PTS whose overall rating is Needs Improvement will be placed on a one-year Directed Growth Plan. The goals will be developed by the Evaluator and outlined in the Directed Growth Plan and shared with the Educator by June 15. The goals must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Evaluator.
  - B) The Mid-Cycle Review meeting for an Educator on a one-year Directed Growth Plan will be held by January 15 and will contain ratings on the four Performance Standards. The Mid-Cycle Review Report will be subsequently completed and shared with the Educator by February 1.
  - C) If the Educator is rated Exemplary, Proficient, or Needs Improvement in the Mid-Cycle Review Report, the Educator will remain on the Directed Growth Plan for the duration of the school year.
  - D) If the Educator is rated Unsatisfactory in the Mid-Cycle Review Report, the Educator will be placed on an Improvement Plan for the duration of the school year. For Educators who are placed on an Improvement Plan in January, and receive an overall rating of Unsatisfactory in the Summative Report, the Evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the educator be dismissed.
  - E) Per state regulations, an Educator may not be rated Needs Improvement at the end of a One-Year Directed Growth Plan. Therefore, if the Educator is returning the next year, the Educator will be rated either Exemplary or Proficient in the Summative Report and moved to the corresponding Educator Growth Plan.
- 4) Educators with PTS Rated Unsatisfactory: Improvement Plan
  - A) If an Educator is rated unsatisfactory in the January Mid-Cycle Review Report, he or she shall be placed on an Improvement Plan through June 1 of that school year.
  - B) Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory in the June Summative Report will be placed on an Improvement Plan for the following school year.
  - C) The Improvement Plan shall:
    - i. Define the Improvement Plan goals directly related to the Performance Standard(s) and/or student learning outcomes that must be improved.
    - Articulate the measurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of improvement.
    - iii. Describe the activities and work products the Educator must complete as a means of improving performance.

- iv. Detail the timeline for completion of each component of the Plan, including monthly meetings with the Evaluator.
- v. Identify the individuals assigned to assist the Educator which must include the Evaluator(s) and mentor assigned by the Evaluator.
- vi. Outline supports to be provided to the Educator by the District. The District will assume the costs of any instructional materials and professional learning opportunities for Educators on an Improvement Plan.
- D) The Improvement Plan process shall be as follows:
  - i. Within ten school days of notification to the Educator that the Educator is being placed on an Improvement Plan, the Evaluator will develop the Improvement Plan and schedule a meeting with the Educator to discuss the plan.
  - ii. If the Educator consents, the Association will be informed that an Educator has been placed on an Improvement Plan. The Educator may request that a representative of the Association attend any or all meeting(s) relevant to the Improvement Plan.
  - iii. There will be a scheduled monthly meeting between the Evaluator and Educator to review progress towards Improvement Plan goals.
  - iv. A mutually-agreed upon, non-supervisory mentor will be assigned to the Educator to support the Educator throughout the Improvement Plan.
  - v. Classroom teachers will be observed a minimum of one 30 minute period at least once a month by one or more Evaluators unless otherwise dictated by an improvement plan.
  - vi. Evaluators will observe Educators in situations/settings that will allow for progress in areas of concern to be demonstrated.
  - vii. Evaluators may request that the Educator provide evidence that demonstrates progress towards the goals of the improvement plan.
- E) The Educator and the Evaluator will sign the Improvement Plan, and a copy of the signed Plan will be provided to the Educator. Signatures indicate that both parties understand the expectations of the Plan.
- F) The Summative Evaluation Report for an Educator on an Improvement Plan must be provided to the Educator by June 1. The Report will include a Summative Performance Rating that will determine next steps. According to state regulations, one of three decisions must be made at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:
  - i. If the Educator receives a rating of Proficient or Exemplary, the Educator will be placed on a Self-Directed Growth Plan.

- ii. If the Educator receives a rating of Needs Improvement, the Educator will be placed on a One-Year Directed Growth Plan.
- iii. If the Evaluator determines that the Educator's practice remains at the level of Unsatisfactory, the Evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.

#### 5. Professional Teacher Status

In order to attain Professional Status, the Educator should achieve ratings of proficient or exemplary on each Performance Standard and overall. A principal considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any Educator who has not been rated proficient or exemplary on each performance standard and overall on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the Superintendent by May 1. The principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the Superintendent.

#### 6. General Provisions

- A) The Superintendent shall ensure that Evaluators have training in supervision and evaluation, including the regulations and standards and indicators of effective teaching practice promulgated by ESE (35.03), and the evaluation Standards and Procedures established in this Agreement.
- B) Should there be a serious disagreement between the Educator and the Evaluator regarding an overall summative performance rating of unsatisfactory, the Educator may meet with the Evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the Educator request such a meeting, the Evaluator's supervisor must meet with the Educator. The Evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the Superintendent. The Educator may request the presence of an Association representative at the meeting.
- C) The parties agree to establish a committee of Association representatives and administrators which shall review the evaluation processes and procedures annually through the first three years of implementation and recommend adjustments to the parties.
- D) Information related to an individual Educator's evaluation shall be considered part of one's personnel file and will not be shared with individuals or organizations outside of the School Districts, unless mandated by law. The Massachusetts DESE requires that ratings be confidentially submitted on an annual basis.
- E) The Educator and Evaluator will sign each document related to evaluation. Electronic signatures are acceptable. A signature indicates that the Educator has received and read the document, and it does not necessarily indicate that the Educator agrees with the contents.
- F) Forms and documents will be jointly created and agreed to by the District and Association.
- G) Educators can submit a response to any documents throughout the process within two weeks. These responses will be kept with the evaluation record.

### **Acton-Boxborough Educator Evaluation Timeline**

Activity:	Completed By:
Evaluator will conduct 5 observations of staff on One Year Plans and 2-3 observations of educators on Two Year Plans each year.	
Educators at the beginning of a one or two year cycle complete self-assessment and draft goals	Between June & Sept 30
Educators will meet with their Evaluators to discuss their self-assessments and goals	October 15
Evaluator will approve goals	November 1
Mid-Cycle Review <i>Meeting</i> for Educators on a One Year Plan (including Non-Professional Status staff)	Early February
Mid-Cycle Review Report for Educators on a One Year Directed or Self-Directed Growth Plan completed and shared with Educator	February 15
Educator may provide Evaluator evidence of performance against the four performance standards and goals.	May 1
Gather student feedback (throughout the year, by May 31) Write reflection on student feedback	May 31
Complete spring goals reflection	May 31
Mid-Cycle or Summative Evaluation Meeting Includes spring goals reflection and student feedback	Late May/ Early June
Mid-Cycle or Summative Report completed, shared, and signed	June 15
Evaluator meets with Educators rated Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory.	June 20
Educator may respond in writing to Summative Evaluation Report	July 1

## APPENDIX D WORKING GROUPS

### 1. High School Teaching Periods

A Study Committee composed of teachers, department leaders, ABEA building representatives, the Principal, and the Superintendent, or designee, shall be convened by October 1, 2021 for the purpose of recommending a course of action regarding equity in teaching load and scheduling at the high school.

### 2. Professional Learning Funding

The Association and the Committee agree to form a working group to investigate and establish a policy for a more equitable distribution of funds for professional learning opportunities. Such a group will begin its deliberations within two months of the ratification of this contract, and every effort will be made to produce a recommendation to the Association and Committee within two months of the group's first meeting. Upon completion of the working group's deliberations, the two parties agree to reopen the contract for the sole purpose of amending the first paragraph under 17.1.

### LETTER OF AGREEMENT REGARDING SENIOR HIGH DUTIES



Side Letter of Agreement

The School Committee will commit at least \$25,000 in 1998-1999 for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty free high school. These sums are specifically for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty free day by reduction of supervisory duties by teachers as determined by the Administration. Incremental implementation will continue over the life of the successor agreement(s) starting in the year 1999-2000. The goal of the School Committee would be full implementation by June 30, 2002.

This side letter will not be subject to grievance and arbitration during the period of the successor agreement. The AEA also recognizes that the positions created by this agreement will be reduced before any certified staff will be RIF'ed. In this event, teacher will resume duty coverage as needed.

Mary Jane Mosta Mary Jane Merrill	M 1/15/97 Date /	Alice (Micki) William	Wiane 4/7/88
William Betourney	mey Date ///6/99	Muchael Scanlon	Carla Mp 98

### LETTER OF AGREEMENT REGARDING JUNIOR HIGH DUTIES

Acton Public Schools Acton-Boxborough Regional Schools Acton, Massachusetts

Side Letter of Agreement

The School Committee will commit at least \$10,000 in 1998-1999 for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty-free junior high school. These sums are specifically for the purpose of implementing the concept of a duty-free day by reduction of supervisory duties by teachers as determined by the Administration. The Administration will first attempt to provide increased supervisory support and/or elective offerings during elective block. Incremental implementation will continue over the life of the successor agreement(s) starting in the year 1999-2000. The goal of the School Committee would be full implementation by June 30, 2002.

This side letter will not be subject to grievance and arbitration during the period of the successor agreement. The AEA also recognizes that the positions created by this agreement will be reduced before any certified staff will be RIFed. In this event, teachers will resume duty coverage as needed.

Mary Jane Merrill Date Cheryl Levine Date
ABA School Committee Chairperson

Carla Brockmoler
AEA Representative

77

### **Paid Chaperoning Guidelines**

In order for a staff member to be paid for chaperoning a school event the following criteria must be met:

- The event must be school-sponsored and occur after school hours or on a weekend.
- The event must require the active chaperoning or monitoring of students. The event would not be able to run without the presence of chaperones.
- Chaperones must stay for the entire duration of the event to be paid. The
  approximate length of the event will be provided in advance by the event
  sponsor or activity advisor and the exact length will be determined at the end of
  the event.
- The chaperone list must be approved by the activity or event sponsor.
- The event sponsor or activity advisor is responsible for submitting time sheets for chaperones within one week of the event.
- Chaperone stipends will be funded by the organization sponsoring the activity.
- Event sponsors/advisors cannot be paid for chaperoning an event if they are receiving a stipend for advising the sponsoring club or activity (i.e. the junior class advisor cannot be paid for chaperoning a junior class dance, but the other teachers volunteering to chaperone can be paid).
- Staff members *participating in* an event should not be considered to be chaperones (e.g. a staff member playing basketball for a student-faculty game or performing in a student-faculty talent show).
- Certain events are excluded from paying chaperones. These include:
  - Events where the sponsoring organization is paying the ticket cost for the chaperone's attendance (e.g. senior prom).
  - School-based celebratory events that encourage staff participation but do not require active chaperoning (e.g. school graduations, elementary school ice cream socials).
  - Athletic event duties since these are paid for by the Athletic Department (e.g. varsity basketball game crowd control).
  - Events where parents have the primary responsibility for monitoring their own children.

# Side Letter Early Retirement Incentive Expires June 30, 2021

- As a possible incentive for early retirement, a sum of money will be paid to a teacher at the first pay period in September of the calendar year in which an eligible teacher retires or resigns effective at the close of the school year in the preceding June. The amount shall be calculated by multiplying the difference between the teacher's last annual Schedule A salary and that for Step One on the bachelor's level for that same year and the relevant multiplication factor set out below. This means that when calculating a teacher's early retirement amount, the current Step One Bachelor's amount will be subtracted from the individual's base salary (including supermax) as determined by the Schedule A Base Annual Salary schedule. Compensation for extra duty activities (e.g. department chair, coaching stipends, etc.) and Experience Increments payments under Article 7.4b shall not be considered.
  - 7.13.2 Although a teacher need not be eligible for benefits from the Retirement System or be receiving said benefits in order to qualify under Section 7.12, a teacher must have taught in the Acton or Boxborough or Acton/Boxborough School Systems for a minimum of fifteen (15) years including the year in which the payment is received in order to be eligible. Periods of paid or unpaid leave shall not count as time taught, except that time under Sections 8.2, 8.3, 8.4, 8.9.2, 8.19, and up to twenty-one (21) days per year under Section 8.1.1 shall count as time taught. Notwithstanding this limit on time under Section 8.1.1, sick time taken for work-related illness or injury shall count as time taught without limit. Work-related injury shall be defined as sick leave taken pursuant to filing for and receiving workers' compensation benefits. Written notice of intent to retire must be received no later than December 15 of the teacher's final year of employment. If unforeseen circumstances occur after this date which creates a hardship for a teacher, the Superintendent may permit on a non-precedent setting basis, waiving the notice date of December 15. If unforeseen circumstances exist which create a hardship for a teacher who has given notice to retire, the Superintendent may permit on a non-precedent setting basis waiving the irrevocability of the retirement. The Superintendent's decision is final and shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provision of this agreement.

#### 7.13.3 Multiplication factors shall be as follows:

Teacher's age on June 30 in	Multiplication
the year of retirement or resignation	Factor
50-55	1.2
56-60	1.0
61-62	0.9
63-64	0.8
65	0.7

For 2020-2021 the BA level for this section shall be \$50,670.

- 7.13.4 No teacher retiring subsequent to June 30, 2021 shall be eligible for benefits under any
- 7.13.5 Any amounts otherwise payable to a teacher under any provisions of this Article 7.12 shall be reduced, on a dollar for dollar basis, by the gross amounts payable to such teacher as Experience Increments under Article 7.4b, and such Experience Increments payments shall be deemed to have been paid as an advance against the amounts payable to such teacher under this Article.

### Witness Page

Wherefore, the parties have caused this agreement to be signed by their duly authorized representatives of the date indicated below.

ACTON-BOXBOROUGH REGIONAL DISTRICT SCHOOL COMMITTEE Negotiating Team ACTON-BOXBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION Negotiating Team

Jessa McKinley, School Committee Chair

Michael Balulescu, ABEA President

Date: 5.6.21

Date: 5/10/21

Amy Krishnamurthy School Committee Negotiations Subcommittee Chair

Marc Lewis, ABEA Negotiations Chair

Date: 5 - 6 - 2

Date: 5/10/21

accident/work-related 36	days defined 4
administrative selection committees 41	department leaders
adoption	Regional 5
MMLA 13	Junior High 6
FMLA 14	desk 29
child rearing leave 14	dining area 28
adoption leave 16	discrimination 38
anniversary dates 8	dismissal times 18, 19
annuity plan 33	driving mileage reimbursement 25
arbitration 44	dues deduction 36
arbitration cost 44	duration of contract 40
arbitration hearing 37	duty-free lunch period 20
arbitrator 45	duty-free side letters 59
assault	duties/non-teaching 23
protection 33	
work-related 33	early release 19
assignment/non-voluntary 43	early retirement 65
association business leave 12	educator eval. contract language 60
athletic director/member of Unit A 48	educator evaluation timeline 60
athletic facilities 29	educator growth plans 69, 70, 71, 72, 73
	evaluation 26
bereavement leave 8	evaluation components 63, 64, 65, 66
Blue Cross 33	evaluation cycle 66, 67,67, 69
books	evaluation timeline 74
delivering to classrooms 23	evening school 26
textbooks 34	exchange leave
bulletin board 26, 29	extended paid sick leave 10
bullying/protection 33	extracurricular activities 20
child rearing leave 14, 15/.	facilities 28
class size 22, 23	faculty lounge 28
coaching evaluation 27	field trips 19, 21
complaint	file cabinet 28
grievance 42	Family/Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 13, 14
communication to teacher 26	
conference nights 18	good cause 27
conferences/kindergarten 39	grievance 42
construction/remodeling of school 41	
core evaluation team meeting 29	harassment/ protection 33
counseling chairperson 6	immediate family 9
	ı

course credits/approval of 7 improvement plan 30 in-service credit 30 in-service credit 30 insurance 33, 34 jury duty 17 laid off employees 16 kindergarten 39 Insurance Advisory Committee 34
curriculum changes 33 insurance 33, 34 laid off employees 16 kindergarten 39 Insurance Advisory Committee 34
jury duty 17 laid off employees 16 linsurance Advisory Committee 34
kindergarten 39 Insurance Advisory Committee 34
Labor Day 18 intersession/kindergarten 39
leave building 19 representation 4
leaves of absence 9 reprimand 27
lockout 45 research and development 31
lunch period 20 retirement 65, 66
remement 65, 60
major subject 7 salaries 5
marking periods 14 advancement to the next step 8
Massachusetts Medical Leave Act 14 installments (21 or 26) 7
(MMLA) part-time 17
mileage reimbursement 25 per diem R & D rate 31
military leave 13 Schedule A 46
Schedule B 48
NEASC 21 Schedule C 54
negotiations 5 Schedule D 55
negotiation meetings 37 Schedule E 56
new teachers 41 schedules/teaching 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 39
nurse leader 4, 5 SEED Course 22
seniority
open positions 25 reduction in staff 40
summer school 26 sick leave 9
orientation 18 specialist teachers 20
spousal/partner leave 15
paraprofessionals 41 staff child tuition 37, 38
parental leave 13 staff meetings 21
parking space 28 storage space 28
partner/spousal leave 15, 16 strike 45
part-time 17 substitute teachers 29
P.E./Health chairperson 4 substitute teacher/arranging for 29
personal leave 8 summer school 26
personnel file 27 supermaximum 5
preparation period 19
preparation time and travel 20 teacher evaluation 26
professional development 30 teaching hours, load, schedules 17, 18, 19,
promotions 26 20, 21

property loss 36 tests 23 protection 33 textbooks 34 transfer/reduction in staff 25 recess 20 reduction in staff 39 transfers 25 travel between schools 20 reimbursement course 30 instructional materials 28 vacancies 26 religious leave 12 vandalism 36 workday classroom teachers 20 non-classroom teachers 22 work area 28 work year 18 working groups 76 worker's compensation 36